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Headquartered in Fort Worth, Texas, with facilities in North America, Europe and Asia, 
KMG manufactures, formulates and globally distributes specialty chemicals for the 
Electronics, Industrial Wood Preservation and Industrial Lubricants markets.

KMG Profile

What We Do

Val-Tex, a wholly-owned subsidiary of KMG, is a preferred provider of high- 
quality, cost-effective valve lubricants primarily to the oil and gas storage, 
pipeline and gas distribution markets. Val-Tex manufactures and distributes 
industrial sealants and lubricants, as well as related products, such as 
lubrication equipment and fittings. 

KMG is the leading North American manufacturer of pentachlorophenol. This 
widely used product preserves, protects and extends the useful lives of wood utility 
poles and crossarms.

KMG is the leading global supplier of high-purity process chemicals, serving major 
semiconductor manufacturers in the U.S., Europe and Asia. KMG formulates and 
blends acids, solvents and other wet chemicals used to etch and clean silicon 
wafers in the production of semiconductors, photovoltaics (solar cells) and flat 
panel displays.

Electronic Chemicals

Wood Treating Chemicals

Industrial Lubricants

Our Core Values

Passion for Excellence Value Our People
Character Counts Work as a Team
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Three years ago we began 
to think differently about the 
future of KMG. We imagined 
a more streamlined and efficient 
company with the capabilities 
and systems to deliver a higher 
level of financial performance 
and success. We saw a KMG that 
was more efficient, financially 
stronger and more disciplined 
in its execution. 

Today, that vision is our reality.

But we’re not finished.  
We are moving forward  
with purpose and we  
remain true to our strategy.  
We have the foundational  
elements in place to  
deliver on our future plans.  
We are driven to excel.



Key Achievements 
That Made KMG a 
Stronger Company 
in 2016
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Our acquisition of Nagase FineChem (NFC) strengthened our 
existing electronic chemicals business and broadened our 
capabilities in Asia, the world’s largest market for semiconductor 
production. Our planned capital investment at the NFC site 
will improve and expand our product offering, enhancing our 
growth opportunity and enabling us to better serve our global 
semiconductor partners in this important region.

Our core growth strategy is built around the effective 
integration and optimization of acquired assets. We completed 
the manufacturing consolidation of our European operations, 
and we fully integrated Val-Tex into our global business. These 
actions enhanced our operational efficiency and generated 
sustainable cost savings.

The relocation of our corporate headquarters to new offices 
in Fort Worth provided the necessary space to accommodate 
our current needs and future growth, while also expanding and 
upgrading our capabilities. Investments in people, technology 
and systems helped strengthen our business analytics, providing 
greater insight into our worldwide operations and enabling 
key process improvements.

Our continual improvement process enabled us to further 
optimize our operations, supply chain and business practices, 
generating sustainable efficiencies throughout the company. 
In addition, our consolidated manufacturing operations led to 
significant cost improvements. Ultimately, increased efficiency 
across our global operations was a key factor behind our 
strong financial performance. 

Throughout 2016 we achieved growth in key financial metrics, 
recording improvements in margins, operating income and 
earnings per share. Our full-year results featured records in 
operating income, net income and earnings per share. Moreover, 
our operating cash flow increased substantially from the prior 
year and we paid down $17 million in debt, ending 2016 with  
our lowest level of debt in more than three years.
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EXPANDED ELECTRONIC CHEMICALS 
BUSINESS IN ASIA

COMPLETED MANUFACTURING 
CONSOLIDATION IN EUROPE AND 
INTEGRATION OF VAL-TEX

UPGRADED CORPORATE 
CAPABILITIES

INCREASED OPERATIONAL 
EFFICIENCY

IMPROVED FINANCIAL 
PERFORMANCE



Our Strategic Priorities

Successful integration of acquired 
assets is the first essential step toward 
realizing the full potential of our strategic 
investments. Leveraging the strengths of 
our global organizational capabilities, we 
will fully integrate NFC’s manufacturing 
operations and talented employees into 
our existing electronic chemicals operations 
in Singapore. When the integration process 
is completed, our Singapore operations 
will benefit from a more optimized supply 
chain infrastructure and greater supply 
reliability. Additionally, our planned capital 
investment at the NFC site will enhance our 
manufacturing capabilities, enabling 
us to better address our customers’ growing 
needs for higher-purity and higher- 
quality products.

Integrate NFC and 
Expand Capabilities

Execute Additional 
Acquisitions

Acquisitions are a fundamental component 
of our growth strategy, and we continually 
evaluate potential opportunities that will 
create long-term shareholder value. With 
substantial borrowing capacity on our credit 
facility, a strong balance sheet and upgraded 
systems and capabilities, we are ideally 
positioned to acquire assets or businesses 
that meet our strategic and financial criteria. 
The expansion of our industrial lubricants 
business and further broadening of our 
electronic chemicals business in Asia are 
key areas of emphasis. 

Producing  
higher-purity  
and higher-  

quality products

Pursuing 
strategic 

consolidation
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Further Improve 
Efficiency and Profitability

We’re proud of the progress we have 
achieved in improving our efficiency and 
profitability, yet we envision an even 
higher level of performance. Having realized 
significant benefits from our global manufacturing 
consolidation, we are focused on driving additional 
operating efficiencies and process improvements 
throughout our global operations to enhance 
our profitability and maximize cash flow. In 2017, 
we will continue our drive for efficiencies and 
enhanced profitability. 

Explore Additional 
Growth Platforms

While we continue to identify and 
pursue acquisition opportunities within 
our electronic chemicals and industrial 
lubricants businesses, we are exploring the 
addition of new platforms that offer attractive 
growth potential. Consistent with our strategy, 
we seek to enter established markets where 
there is a clear path to leadership through 
organic growth and consolidation. We also 
target those acquisition opportunities where 
we can maximize economic returns through 
the realization of operational and commercial 
synergies over time. 

Driving  
a higher level of 

performance

New 
platforms 

to enhance 
growth
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As we enter our third 

decade of operations, we 

remain committed to enhancing 

long-term shareholder value through 

the smart, efficient management of 

our operations and cash flow, 

and the optimization of 

acquired assets.
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Dear Fellow Shareholders

2016 was an exceptional year for KMG.  
We not only achieved record financial performance, 
but we also took significant steps toward building 

an even stronger company by advancing our growth 
strategy in Asia, further optimizing our global 

operations and expanding our capabilities. KMG  
also marked a memorable milestone in reaching  

our twentieth year as a public company. 

1 See pages 18-19 of our Form 10-K for reconciliation of adjusted EBITDA to GAAP.
2 See pages 18-19 of our Form 10-K for reconciliation of adjusted diluted earnings per share to GAAP.

Over the past two decades, KMG has grown and evolved from a niche supplier of wood preservatives to a 
diversified global provider of specialty chemicals and products, providing indispensable value to our customers.  
I am honored today to lead KMG, and wish to express my gratitude and appreciation to all those who have  
helped make KMG successful: Our founder, Dave Hatcher, whose vision and leadership were fundamental 
in creating the company KMG is today; our talented and dedicated employees around the world; our Board 
of Directors, whose passion, experience and judgment have effectively guided our strategy; our committed 
suppliers; and of course, our valued customers, who place their trust in KMG every day.  

I’m especially proud of the progress we’ve made as an organization over the past several years, which reflects 
our shared sense of purpose and continued pursuit of operational excellence. While we have intensified our 
focus on execution and enhancing our efficiency, we have also invested significantly in our future − in our people, 
our processes and our product quality − to build scalable capabilities that enable us to achieve an even higher 
level of performance in the years ahead. As we enter our third decade of operations, we remain committed to 
enhancing long-term shareholder value through the smart, efficient management of our operations and cash 
flow, and the optimization of acquired assets.

Fiscal 2016 adjusted EBITDA1 grew 22% to a record $45.4 million, marking our second consecutive year of 
adjusted EBITDA growth in excess of 20%. This growth was particularly notable as our results included the 
impact of higher stock-based compensation expense, which totaled $4.8 million in fiscal 2016 versus  
$2.8 million in fiscal 2015. Our equity incentive program represents a key investment in our people, our most 
important asset, who are vital to our long-term success.

Adjusted diluted earnings per share2  increased 33% to an all-time high of $1.61, while GAAP diluted EPS rose to 
$1.57, also a record high and a 52% increase from the prior year’s $1.03.

Financial Highlights



Fiscal 2016 sales were $298 million compared to $320.5 million in the prior year, reflecting the divestiture of our creosote business in  
fiscal 2015 and a foreign currency translation impact of $6 million from the strengthening of the U.S. dollar.

We ended fiscal 2016 in a strong financial position. During the year, we reduced our debt by $17 million, resulting in a debt to total capital 
ratio of 20% − the lowest level since mid-2013. Additionally, cash flow from operations more than doubled from the prior year to $41 
million. Our financial strength not only enables us to strategically invest in our current business, but also provides the means to further 
our growth through acquisitions.

Since 2008, we have pursued a methodical consolidation strategy in the high-purity process chemicals market, acquiring and integrating 
strategic assets and businesses that have transformed KMG into the world’s leading supplier of these critical materials for semiconductor 
manufacturing. In April we further advanced our growth strategy with the acquisition of Nagase FineChem (NFC), a manufacturer of 
electronic chemicals in Singapore. 

The NFC acquisition represents an exciting and important step forward for our electronic chemicals business. Because Asia represents 
the largest and fastest-growing region in the world for semiconductor production, our global customers seek strategic suppliers who 
possess similar global reach and capabilities. The addition of Nagase’s talented team and manufacturing assets strengthens our electronic 
chemicals business in Asia and offers compelling opportunities for growth.  

Three years ago we embarked on the restructuring of our global manufacturing operations to enhance our efficiency and better serve our 
global customers. Having realigned our North American electronic chemicals operations in fiscal 2015, we completed the reconfiguration 
of our European assets in fiscal 2016, improving our operational efficiency and directly contributing to the record financial performance 
in our electronic chemicals business. We will continue to strive for even greater efficiency and supply reliability throughout our global 
operations, with a particular focus in Europe and Asia where we see opportunities for further optimization.

In addition to the enduring efficiency improvements we achieved in fiscal 2016, we completed the integration of Val-Tex, the industrial 
lubricants and sealants business that represents our newest growth platform. We continue to see tremendous potential for domestic and 
international expansion of this business through additional value-creating acquisitions, particularly given the recent volatility within the 
energy industry. 

We continue to make significant investments in our people, technology and systems to better manage our current global operations 
and build the infrastructure and capabilities to support our future growth. In January we relocated our corporate office from Houston 
to Fort Worth, a move that provided the necessary physical space to accommodate our current needs and future expansion, as well as 
strengthened our capabilities at the corporate level. 

Following last year’s deployment of new enterprise resource planning software in our U.S. operations, we focused this year on  
implementing process improvements to enhance our working capital management and overall corporate efficiency. As we seek to 
unify our global operations on a single technology platform, we will further invest in our ERP system, extending its functionality to our  
European operations and our industrial lubricants business in fiscal 2017. 8

Strengthening Our Presence in Asia

Sustainable Efficiency Improvements

Enhanced Capabilities

Building Our New Growth Platform
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Despite a decline in global semiconductor wafer shipments, revenue within our Electronic Chemicals segment increased by 1% compared 
to the prior year, excluding the impact of foreign currency translation. We expanded our participation in growing semiconductor end 
markets, including data center, automotive and Internet-of-Things, enhancing our overall product volume. We also deepened our strategic 
relationships with our global customers, aligning our product offering and capabilities to better meet their increasing needs for product 
purity, quality and reliability. To further strengthen the KMG Electronic Chemicals brand, we introduced the tagline “Pure Performance,” 
underscoring our unwavering commitment to product purity and reliability in today’s leading-edge applications.    

Electronic Chemicals segment operating income increased 48% to $32.1 million, with segment operating margins expanding to 12.3%. 
These record results reflected continued cost improvements through the consolidation of our manufacturing operations, increased 
operational efficiency and improved distribution expense. Additionally, NFC was immediately accretive to our results starting in the third 
fiscal quarter.

Our Other Chemicals segment, which includes our industrial lubricants and pentachlorophenol businesses, reported sales of $36.5 million 
and operating income of $12.6 million. Once again, our penta business delivered another year of solid results, as costs remained favorable 
and market demand was steady for this valued and cost-effective product for protecting and preserving wood utility poles. 

Despite volatility in the energy industry, our industrial lubricants business contributed positively to our results, benefiting from customer 
demand for our time-tested, high-quality products and innovative solutions that help enable optimal valve performance.  

Our strong results in 2016 reflect our continued focus on execution and driving efficiencies consistent with our growth strategy. Thanks 
to the dedication and hard work of KMG employees throughout the world, we have made significant progress operationally, financially 
and strategically − but our work is not done. We recognize that to meet our goal of operational and organizational excellence, we must 
continue to strive for higher performance each and every day.  

As always, we must navigate through some headwinds, which in fiscal 2017 include a consolidating and relatively slower-growing 
global semiconductor industry, rising costs for certain raw materials and pricey valuations in the M&A market. However, because of the 
investments we’ve made and the capabilities we’ve developed, I am excited and optimistic about KMG’s future. 

We remain steadfast in our goal to manage our operations as smartly and efficiently as possible, maximizing cash flow and pursuing only 
those acquisitions that make financial and strategic sense over the long term. This strategic framework has been the basis for our past 
growth and success, and I am confident it will remain so in the future.

On behalf of KMG’s management and Board of Directors, thank you for your continued support.

Christopher T. Fraser     
President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board

Sincerely,

Business Segment Highlights

In Closing
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COMPARISON OF FIVE-YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*

    Among KMG Chemicals, Inc., The NYSE Composite Index and the S&P Small Cap Specialty Chemicals Index.
* Assumes $100 invested on July 31, 2011. Assumes dividend reinvested fiscal year ending July 31, 2016.

KMG Chemicals, Inc. S&P Small Cap Specialty Chemicals Index NYSE Composite-Total Returns 
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1 A reconciliation of non-GAAP financial measures to GAAP can be found on pages 18-19 of our Form 10-K included herein.
2  Potentially dilutive shares are not included in the computation of diluted weighted average shares outstanding for year ended July 31, 2014 due to a loss from continuing operations for the year.

Financial Highlights   
(in thousands, except per share) 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

Net Sales $ 272,700  $ 263,311  $ 353,406  $ 320,498  $ 297,978 

Gross Profit $ 77,065  $ 76,470  $ 103,499  $ 109,477  $ 115,508 

Operating Income $ 25,437  $ 17,180  $ 3,951  $ 16,589  $ 27,571 

Net Income $ 13,825  $ 9,348  $ (988) $ 12,138  $ 18,675 

Earnings per Diluted Share  $ 1.20  $ 0.81  $ (0.09) $ 1.03  $ 1.57 

Adjusted EBITDA1 $ 32,186  $ 29,420  $ 30,642  $ 37,058  $ 45,384 

Adjusted Net Income1 $ 13,825  $ 12,808  $ 9,450  $ 14,241  $ 19,219 

Adjusted Diluted Earnings per Share1 $ 1.20  $ 1.11  $ 0.81  $ 1.21  $ 1.61 

Weighted Average Diluted          

    Shares Outstanding  11,528   11,578   11,6152  11,779   11,926 

Total Assets $ 167,690  $ 262,015  $ 250,858  $ 242,359   237,028 

Total Shareholders’ Equity $ 106,767  $ 117,240  $ 120,206  $ 123,421   143,189 

Long-term Debt $ 24,000  $ 85,000  $ 60,000  $ 53,000   35,800 

Depreciation and Amortization $ 7,018  $ 8,295  $ 14,117  $ 13,531   14,534
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PART I 
 
 

ITEM 1. BUSINESS 

Company Overview 
We were incorporated in 1992 as a Texas corporation. We manufacture, formulate and globally distribute specialty chemicals 

through our three wholly owned subsidiaries, KMG Electronic Chemicals, Inc. (“KMG EC”), KMG Val-Tex, LLC (“Val-Tex”) and 
KMG-Bernuth, Inc. (“KMG Bernuth”). We grow primarily by purchasing product lines and businesses that operate in segments of the 
specialty chemical industry that: 

x provide an opportunity to obtain a significant share of the market segment through further acquisitions and organic 
growth; 

x are of a size that larger industry participants generally find too small to be attractive; 

x have niche products with well-established and proven commercial uses; 

x offer products that have moved well beyond their discovery phase and require little or no on-going research and 
development expenditures; and 

x have significant barriers to entry. 

We operate businesses selling electronic chemicals, industrial wood treating chemicals and industrial valve lubricants and 
sealants. Our electronic chemicals segment provides high purity and ultra purity, wet process chemicals to the semiconductor industry, 
primarily to clean and etch silicon wafers in the production of semiconductors. We are the leading supplier of these wet process 
chemicals to the semiconductor industry in the United States and have a significant presence in Europe and Singapore. Our industrial 
valve lubricants and sealants enable optimal valve operation and provide important safety and environmental benefits, including 
preventing fugitive emissions and minimizing costly downtime at oil and gas storage facilities and pipelines. Our wood treating 
chemicals, based on pentachlorophenol, or penta, are sold to industrial customers who use these preservatives to extend the useful life 
of wood utility poles and crossarms. We are the only producer of penta in North America.  

For the twelve months ended July 31, 2016, we generated revenues of $298.0 million and net income of $18.7 million. On 
July 31, 2016, we had total long-term debt of $35.8 million, cash and cash equivalents of $12.4 million and total stockholders’ equity 
of $143.2 million.  

Business Strategy 
We seek to build long-term shareholder value through smart and efficient management of our existing operations, and through 

the rapid integration and optimization of acquired businesses. We favor businesses with stable markets, providing opportunities for 
harvesting operational synergies and enhancing margins. Our actions are guided by our core values, which emphasize a passion for 
excellence, that we value our people, and that character and teamwork are critical. Three fundamental principles are at the core of our 
strategy: 

x Operate . We seek to maximize cash flow by managing our plants with the best-available technology. We enhance the 
value of our operations by concentrating on customer satisfaction and efficient management of our resources to increase 
our profitability and cash flows. 

x Acquire . The cash flows generated by the businesses that we operate provide us with the ability to pursue further 
acquisitions in order to build on our existing segments, and to establish a new business platform for future growth. We 
employ a methodical approach to identify and evaluate potential acquisitions, only pursuing those that meet our financial 
and strategic criteria. Our discipline throughout the acquisition process maximizes the chances of long-term success. 

x Integrate . We have consistently improved our ability to integrate progressively larger and more complex acquisitions. 
Our focus is to maintain reliable service to our customers during the integration period, identify and harvest the long-term 
synergies, and efficiently absorb acquired businesses. An effective integration strategy is an essential precondition for our 
operational success. 

Business Segments  
Electronic Chemicals. Our electronic chemicals business sells high purity and ultra purity wet process chemicals primarily to the 

semiconductor industry. Our electronic chemicals business accounted for 87.8% of our net sales in fiscal year 2016, 82.9% in fiscal 
year 2015, and 71.8% in fiscal year 2014. 
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Our electronic chemicals are used to clean and etch silicon wafers in the production of semiconductors. The electronic 
chemicals business was acquired initially in December 2007 from Air Products and Chemicals, Inc. (“Air Products”), and expanded 
with our purchases in March 2010 and in May 2013 of similar businesses from General Chemical Performance Products LLP 
(“General Chemical”) and OM Group, Inc. (“OM Group”), respectively. On April 4, 2016, we completed the acquisition of Nagase 
Finechem Singapore (Pte) Ltd. (“NFC”), a Singapore-based manufacturer of electronic chemicals. Our products include sulfuric, 
phosphoric, nitric and hydrofluoric acids, ammonium hydroxide, hydrogen peroxide, isopropyl alcohol, other specialty organic 
solvents and various blends of chemicals. We operate our electronic chemicals business through KMG EC in North America and 
through KMG Italia, S.r.l. (“KMG Italia”) and KMG Electronic Chemicals Luxembourg Holdings S.a.r.l. (“KMG Lux”) (and its 
subsidiaries) in Europe and Asia and have facilities in the United States, the United Kingdom, France, Italy and Singapore. Our 
customers rely on us to provide products with very low levels of contaminants and particles, in some cases at less than 100 parts per 
trillion levels. We purchase raw material chemicals from various suppliers and blend, package and purify them for distribution to our 
customers. We are responsible for product purity levels and analytical testing. Our products are sold in bulk and in containers, 
including bottles, drums and totes. This purification and distribution process is largely accomplished at our facilities in the United 
States, Europe and Singapore. 

Other Chemicals. Our other chemicals segment includes our industrial lubricants business and our wood treating chemicals 
business. Our other chemicals segment constituted about 12.2% of our net sales in fiscal year 2016, 17.1% in fiscal year 2015, and 
28.2% in fiscal year 2014. 

In our industrial lubricants business, we manufacture and distribute industrial sealants, lubricants and related equipment, 
primarily to the oil and gas storage, pipeline and gas distribution markets, through one facility in the United States. Our industrial 
valve lubricants and sealants enable optimal valve operation, provide important safety and environmental benefits, including 
preventing fugitive emissions and minimizing costly downtime at oil and gas storage facilities and pipelines. The industrial lubricants 
business was acquired in May 2015 through the acquisition of Valves Incorporated of Texas, a privately held Texas corporation. 

In our wood treating chemicals business, we supply penta to industrial customers who use this preservative to pressure treat 
wood products, primarily utility poles and crossarms, to extend their useful life by protecting against insect damage and decay. Our 
penta products include solid blocks and concentrated solutions. We manufacture solid penta blocks at our facility in Matamoros, 
Mexico through KMG de Mexico (“KMEX”), a Mexican corporation which is a wholly owned subsidiary of KMG Bernuth. We sell 
penta products in the United States, Canada and Mexico. We also sell hydrochloric acid, which is a byproduct of penta production for 
use in the steel and oil well service industries. In January 2015, we sold our creosote distribution business, which had been a part of 
our wood treating chemicals business.  

Suppliers 

In our electronic chemicals segment, we rely on a variety of suppliers for our raw materials, some of which we purchase on open 
account and others which we purchase under supply contracts. The number of suppliers is often limited, particularly as to the specific 
grade of raw material required by us to supply high purity and ultra purity products to our customers. 

In our other chemicals segment, our wood treating chemicals and lubricants depend on outside suppliers for all of the raw 
materials needed to produce our products, and are subject to fluctuations in the price of those materials. The principal raw materials 
used are chlorine, phenol and co-solvent for our penta products and castor oil and fumed silica for our lubricants, each of which we 
purchase from a limited number of suppliers.  

No assurance can be given that the loss of a supplier would not have a material adverse effect on our financial position or results 
of operations. 

Customers 

We sell our products to approximately 2,500 customers, most of which are customers of our industrial lubricants business. One 
of our electronic chemicals customers, Intel Corporation, accounted for 10% or more of our revenues in fiscal years 2016 and 2015. In 
fiscal year 2014, Intel and one of our wood treating chemicals customers, Stella Jones Corporation, accounted for 10% or more of our 
revenues. No other customer accounted for 10% or more of our revenue in fiscal years 2016, 2015 or 2014. The loss of the Intel 
business would have a material adverse effect on sales of our electronic chemicals. 

Marketing 

We sell to our electronic chemicals customers through a combination of an internal sales force and distributors organized by 
geographic region. Our other chemicals are sold in the United States, Canada and Mexico through an internal sales force, distributors 
and independent agents, and sold internationally through distributors and agents. 
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Geographical Information 

Sales made to customers in the United States were 54.5% of total revenues in fiscal year 2016, 57.2% in 2015 and 60.2% in 
2014. Sales made outside of the United States were primarily electronic chemicals sold in Europe, Israel and Singapore. As of the end 
of fiscal year 2016, our property, plant and equipment were allocated, based on net book value, 59.1% in the United States and 40.9% 
elsewhere. 

Competition 

There are only a few firms competing with us in the sale of our electronic and wood treating chemical products. In our industrial 
lubricants business, we compete with many other firms. We compete by selling our products at competitive prices and maintaining a 
strong commitment to product quality and customer service. 

In electronic chemicals in North America, we believe that we have a significant market share, and our principal competitors 
include Honeywell, Kanto Corporation and Avantor (formerly Mallinckrodt Baker). Internationally, we compete in Europe primarily 
with BASF, Technic and Honeywell, and in Asia with BASF, Kanto Corporation and others. We believe our market share in Europe is 
comparable to our competitors, and we do not participate materially in the market in Asia outside of Singapore. 

In our electronic chemicals business, our customers demand that each of their suppliers and each product used to make their 
semiconductors go through a rigorous qualification process. Once a customer has qualified one or more suppliers and their products 
for one of its fabrication facilities, there is often reluctance to switch to suppliers who are not qualified. 

In our industrial lubricants business, competitors include about twenty-five other businesses that serve the oil and gas storage, 
pipeline and gas distribution markets, none of which have a dominant market position. Our principal competitors include Sealweld 
Corporation, Flowserve Corporation and JetLube, Inc. 

The principal wood preserving chemicals for industrial applications are penta, creosote and chromated copper arsenate, or CCA. 
We supply customers in the United States with penta, but not creosote or CCA. We are the only manufacturer of penta-based 
preservatives in North America. Penta is used primarily to treat electric, telephone and other utility poles, to protect them from insect 
damage and decay, extending their useful life by many years. We estimate that approximately two million treated utility poles are 
purchased each year by utility companies in the United States. Of that amount, we estimate approximately 45% are treated with penta. 
The remaining poles are treated primarily with creosote or CCA.  

Our wood treating chemicals must be registered prior to sale under United States law. See “Environmental and Safety Matters 
— Licenses, Permits and Product Registrations.” As a condition to registration, any company wishing to manufacture and sell these 
products must provide substantial scientific research and testing data regarding the chemistry and toxicology of the products to the 
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (“EPA”). This data must be generated by the applicant, or the applicant must purchase access 
to the information from other data providers. We believe that the cost of satisfying the data submission requirement serves as an 
impediment to the entry of new competitors, particularly those with lesser financial resources. While we have no reason to believe that 
the product registration requirement will be materially modified, we cannot give any assurances as to the effect of such a 
discontinuation or modification on our competitive position. 

Employees 

As of the end of fiscal year 2016, we had a total of 626 full-time employees. We employed 473 employees in our electronic 
chemicals segment, 73 employees in our other chemicals segment, and 80 employees in administration and corporate. 

Environmental and Safety Matters 

Our operations are subject to extensive federal, state and local laws, regulations and ordinances in the United States and abroad 
relating to the protection of the environment and human health and to safety, including those pertaining to chemical manufacture and 
distribution, waste generation, storage and disposal, discharges to waterways, and air emissions and various other health and safety 
matters. Governmental authorities have the power to enforce compliance with their regulations, and violators may be subject to civil, 
criminal and administrative penalties, injunctions or both. We devote significant financial resources to ensure compliance with safety 
and environmental laws. See “Item 1A. Risk Factors.” 

We anticipate that the regulation of our business operations under federal, state and local environmental laws in the United 
States and abroad will increase and become more stringent over time. We cannot estimate the impact of increased and more stringent 
regulation on our operations, future capital expenditure requirements or the cost of compliance. 
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Available Information 

We make available free of charge on our Internet web site www.kmgchemicals.com, our Annual Report on Form 10-K, 
Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and other filings pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, and amendments to such filings, as soon as reasonably practicable after each are electronically filed with, or 
furnished to, the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”). Information about our members of the Board of 
Directors, standing committee charters, and our Code of Business Conduct are also available, free of charge, through our website. 

The SEC maintains a website that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding issuers 
that file electronically with the SEC, available at www.sec.gov . You may read and copy any materials we file with the SEC at the 
SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100 F Street NE., Washington, DC 20549. You may obtain information on the operation of the 
Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. Our stock trades under the ticker symbol “KMG” on the New York 
Stock Exchange. Except for portions of our proxy statement to be filed with the SEC, no information from either the SEC’s website or 
our website is incorporated herein by reference. 
 
 
ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS 

You should carefully consider the risks described below, together with all of the other information included in this report. We 
believe the risks and uncertainties described below are the most significant we face. The occurrence of any of the following risks could 
materially harm our business, financial condition or results of operations. In that case, the trading price of our common stock could 
decline, and you may lose all or part of your investment. 

Risks Relating to Our Business 

The industries in which we operate are competitive. This competition may affect our market share or prevent us from raising prices 
at the same pace as our costs increase, making it difficult for us to maintain existing business and win new business. 

We operate in competitive markets. Certain of our competitors have substantially greater financial and technical resources than 
we do. Additionally, new competitors may enter our markets. We may be required to reduce prices if our competitors reduce prices, or 
as a result of any other downward pressure on prices for our products and services, which could have an adverse effect on us. In 
electronic chemicals, we compete with several very large, international companies. Our customers have regularly requested price 
decreases and maintaining or raising prices has been difficult over the past several years and will likely continue to be so in the near 
future. Competition in electronic chemicals is based on a number of factors, including price, freight economics, product quality and 
technical support. If we are unable to compete successfully, our financial condition and results of operations could be adversely 
affected. 

The industries that we compete in are subject to economic downturns. 

An economic downturn in the electronic industry as a whole or other events (e.g., labor disruptions) resulting in significantly 
reduced production at the manufacturing plants of our customers, could have a material adverse impact on the results of our electronic 
chemicals segment. Similarly, an economic downturn affecting utilities or the oil and gas industry could have a material adverse effect 
on demand in our other chemicals segment.  

A significant portion of our revenue and operating income are concentrated in a small number of customers. 

We derive a significant portion of our revenues and operating income in our electronic chemicals and other chemicals segments 
from sales of products to a small number of customers. As a result, the loss of Intel, Stella-Jones or another significant customer, or a 
material reduction of demand from any of those customers, could adversely affect our revenues and operating income. 

We will continue to pursue new acquisitions or joint ventures, and any such transaction could result in operating or management 
problems that adversely affect operating results. We remain subject to the ongoing risks of successfully integrating and managing 
the acquisitions and joint ventures that are completed.  

The acquisitions we make expose us to the risk of integrating that acquisition. An integration effort impacts various areas of our 
business, including our management, production facilities, information systems, accounting and financial reporting, and customer 
service. Disruption to any of these areas could materially harm our financial condition or results of operations. 

We expect to continue to pursue new acquisitions or joint ventures, a pursuit which could consume substantial time and 
resources. The successful implementation of our operating strategy in current and future acquisitions and joint ventures may require 
substantial attention from our management team, which could divert management attention from existing businesses. The businesses 
acquired, or the joint ventures entered into, may not generate the cash flow and earnings, or yield the other benefits anticipated at the 
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time of their acquisition or formation. The risks inherent in any such strategy could have an adverse impact on our results of operation 
or financial condition. 

We are dependent on a limited number of suppliers for certain key raw materials, the loss of any one of which could have a 
material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations. 

We depend on a limited number of suppliers for certain key raw materials needed by our businesses, such as sulfuric, 
hydrofluoric and nitric acids. Those suppliers are subject to a variety of operational and commercial constraints that can adversely 
impact our supply. If we were to lose suppliers for key raw materials, we might have difficulty securing a replacement supplier at 
reasonable cost, and no assurance can be given that such loss would not have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and 
results of operations. 

The classification of pentachlorophenol as a Persistent Organic Pollutant under the Stockholm Convention may adversely affect 
our ability to manufacture or sell our penta products. 

The Conference of the Parties (“COP”), comprising representatives from countries that have ratified the treaty known as the 
Stockholm Convention, met in May 2015 and considered the classification of penta as a persistent organic pollutant (“POP”). The 
COP accepted the recommendation of the United Nations Persistent Organic Pollutant Review Committee that the use of penta should 
be banned except that its use for the treatment of utility poles and crossarms could continue for an extended period of six to eleven 
years. We supply penta to industrial customers who use it primarily to treat utility poles and crossarms. The United States is not bound 
by the determination of the COP because it did not adopt the Stockholm Convention treaty. Canada and Mexico are governed by the 
treaty. No assurance can be given that the ultimate action of the COP will not have a material adverse effect on our financial condition 
and results of operation. 

If the demand for the wood products on which our chemicals are used decreases, our business, results of operations, cash flow and 
financial condition may be adversely affected. 

Our wood treating products are sold into relatively stable markets. However, demand for treated wood generally increases or 
decreases with the financial strength and maintenance budgets of electric utilities, and demand can vary with damage levels suffered 
from severe storms. A significant decline in utility pole sales could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition 
and results of operations. 

The implementation of a new enterprise resource planning system could cause a financial statement error not to be detected, and 
could take longer and be more costly than anticipated. 

We are in the process of expanding our new enterprise resource planning (“ERP”) system to certain of our subsidiaries. This is a 
complex process, and the new system will result in changes to our internal controls over financial reporting, including disclosure 
controls and procedures. The possibility exists that the migration to a new ERP system could adversely affect the effectiveness of our 
internal controls over financial reporting. Furthermore, no assurance can be given that the effort will not take longer or be more costly 
than currently believed. 

If we are unable to identify, fund and execute new acquisitions, we will not be able to execute a key element of our business 
strategy. 

Our strategy is to grow primarily by acquiring additional businesses and product lines. We cannot give any assurance that we 
will be able to identify, acquire or profitably manage additional businesses and product lines, or successfully integrate any acquired 
business or product line without substantial expenses, delays or other operational or financial difficulties. Financing for acquisitions 
may not be available, or may be available only at a cost or on terms and conditions that are unacceptable to us. Further, acquisitions 
may involve a number of special risks or effects, including diversion of management’s attention, failure to retain key acquired 
personnel, unanticipated events or circumstances, legal liabilities, impairment of acquired intangible assets and other one-time or 
ongoing acquisition-related expenses. Some or all of these special risks or effects could have a material adverse effect on our financial 
and operating results. In addition, we cannot assure you that acquired businesses or product lines, if any, will achieve anticipated 
revenues and earnings. 

The consideration we pay in connection with an acquisition also may affect our financial results. If we were to proceed with one 
or more significant acquisitions in which the consideration included cash, we could be required to use a substantial portion of our 
available cash or obtain debt or equity financing. To the extent that we issue shares of our capital stock or other rights to purchase 
shares of our common stock as consideration for an acquisition or in connection with the financing of an acquisition, including options 
or other rights, our existing common shareholders may be diluted, and our earnings per share may decrease. 
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We may experience increased costs and production delays if suppliers fail to deliver materials or if prices increase for raw 
materials and other goods and services that we purchase from third parties. 

We purchase raw materials for our electronic chemicals business from a number of domestic and foreign suppliers. Although we 
believe that the raw materials we require in our electronic chemicals business will be available in sufficient supply on a competitive 
basis for the foreseeable future, increases in the cost of raw materials, including energy and other inputs used to make our products, 
could affect future sales volumes, prices and margins for our products. If a supplier should cease to deliver goods or services to us, we 
would in most cases find other sources. However, such a disruption could result in added cost and manufacturing delays. In addition, 
political instability, war, terrorism and other disruptions to international transit routes could adversely impact our ability to obtain key 
raw materials in a timely fashion, or at all. 

Increases in the price of our primary raw materials may decrease our profitability and adversely affect our liquidity, cash flow, 
financial condition and results of operations. 

The prices we pay for raw materials in our businesses may increase significantly, and we may not always be able to pass those 
increases through to our customers fully and timely. In the future, we may be unable to pass on increases in our raw material costs, 
and raw material price increases may erode the profitability of our products by reducing our gross profit. Price increases for raw 
materials may also increase our working capital needs, which could adversely affect our liquidity and cash flow. For these reasons, we 
cannot assure you that raw material cost increases in our businesses would not have a material adverse effect on our financial 
condition and results of operations. 

Our ability to make payments on our debt will be contingent on our future operating performance, which will depend on a number 
of factors that are outside of our control. 

Our ability to make principal and interest payments on our debt is contingent on our future operating performance, which will 
depend on a number of factors, many of which are outside of our control. The degree to which we are leveraged could have other 
important negative consequences. 

If we are unable to make debt payments or comply with the other provisions of our debt instruments, our lenders may be 
permitted under certain circumstances to accelerate the maturity of the indebtedness owed to them and exercise other remedies 
provided for in those instruments and under applicable law. 

Restrictions in our debt agreements could limit our growth and our ability to respond to changing conditions. 

Our debt agreements contain a number of covenants which affect our ability to take certain actions and restrict our ability to 
incur additional debt. These include covenants that prohibit certain acquisitions that are not approved by our lenders. In addition, our 
debt agreements require us to maintain certain financial ratios and satisfy certain financial condition tests, which may require us to 
take action to reduce our debt or take some other action to comply with them. 

These restrictions could limit our ability to obtain future financings, make needed capital expenditures, withstand a future 
downturn in our business or the economy in general or otherwise conduct necessary corporate activities. We may also be prevented 
from taking advantage of business opportunities that arise because of the limitations that these restrictive covenants impose on us. 

A breach of any of these covenants would result in a default under the applicable debt agreement. A default, if not waived, could 
result in acceleration of the debt outstanding under the agreement and in a default with respect to certain of our other agreements. The 
accelerated debt would become immediately due and payable. If that should occur, we may not be able to pay all such debt or to 
borrow sufficient funds to refinance it. Even if new financing were then available, it may not be on terms that are acceptable to us. 

We are subject to extensive environmental laws and regulations and may incur costs that have a material adverse effect on our 
financial condition as a result of violations of or liabilities under environmental laws and regulations. 

Like other companies involved in environmentally sensitive businesses, our operations and properties are subject to extensive 
and stringent federal, state, local and foreign environmental laws and regulations, including those concerning, among other things: 

x the marketing, sale, use and registration of our chemical products, such as penta; 

x the treatment, storage and disposal of wastes; 

x the investigation and remediation of contaminated soil and groundwater; 

x the discharge of effluents into waterways; 

x the emission of substances into the air; and 
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x other matters relating to environmental protection and various health and safety matters. 

The EPA and other federal and state agencies in the United States, as well as comparable agencies in other countries where we 
have facilities or sell our products, have the authority to promulgate regulations that could have a material adverse impact on our 
operations. These environmental laws and regulations may require permits for certain types of operations, require the installation of 
expensive pollution control equipment, place restrictions upon operations or impose substantial liability for pollution resulting from 
our operations. We expend substantial funds to minimize the discharge of hazardous materials in the environment and to comply with 
governmental regulations relating to protection of the environment. Compliance with environmental and health and safety laws and 
regulations has resulted in ongoing costs for us, and could restrict our ability to modify or expand our facilities or continue production, 
or require us to install costly pollution control equipment or incur significant expenses, including remediation costs. We have incurred, 
and expect to continue to incur, significant costs to comply with environmental and health and safety laws or to address liabilities for 
contaminated facilities. Federal, state and foreign governmental authorities may seek fines and penalties, as well as injunctive relief, 
for violation of the various laws and governmental regulations, and could, among other things, impose liability on us for cleaning up 
the damage resulting from a release of pesticides, hazardous materials or other chemicals into the environment. 

If our products are not re-registered by the EPA or are re-registered subject to new restrictions, our ability to sell our products may 
be curtailed or significantly limited. 

Our penta product registrations are under continuous review by the EPA under the Federal Insecticide, Fungicide and 
Rodenticide Act (“FIFRA”). We have submitted and will submit a wide range of scientific data to support our U.S. registrations. To 
satisfy the registration review, we are required to demonstrate, among other things, that our products will not cause unreasonable 
adverse effects on human health or the environment when used according to approved label directions. In September 2008, the EPA 
announced that it had determined that penta was eligible for re-registration, but the EPA proposed new restrictions on the use of penta 
that have required our customers to incur substantial additional costs and to revise certain operating procedures. In June 2015, the EPA 
issued a registration review work plan that required penta registrants to provide additional research and testing data respecting certain 
potential risks to human health or the environment as a further condition to continued registration. We are now conducting required 
testing but we cannot tell you when or if the EPA will issue a final decision concluding that the conditions of re-registration for our 
penta products have been satisfied, and that all additional testing requirements have been satisfied, and we cannot assure you that our 
products will not be subject to use or labeling restrictions that may have an adverse effect on our financial position and results of 
operations. The failure of our current or future-acquired products to be re-registered or to satisfy the registration review by the EPA, or 
the imposition of new use, labeling or other restrictions in connection with re-registration could have a material adverse effect on our 
financial condition and results of operations. 

Our use of hazardous materials exposes us to potential liabilities. 

Our manufacturing and distribution of chemical products involves the controlled use of hazardous materials. Our operations, 
therefore, are subject to various associated risks, including chemical spills, discharges or releases of toxic or hazardous substances or 
gases, fires, mechanical failure, storage facility leaks and similar events. Our suppliers are subject to similar risks that may adversely 
impact the availability of raw materials. While we adapt our manufacturing and distribution processes to the environmental control 
standards of regulatory authorities, we cannot completely eliminate the risk of accidental contamination or injury from hazardous or 
regulated materials, including injury of our employees, individuals who handle our products or goods treated with our products, or 
others who claim to have been exposed to our products, nor can we completely eliminate the unanticipated interruption or suspension 
of operations at our facilities due to such events. We may be held liable for significant damages or fines in the event of contamination 
or injury, and such assessed damages or fines could have a material adverse effect on our financial performance and results of 
operations. 

The distribution and sale of our products is subject to prior governmental approvals and thereafter ongoing governmental 
regulation. 

Our products are subject to laws administered by federal, state and foreign governments, including regulations requiring 
registration, approval and labeling of our products. The labeling requirements restrict the use and type of application for our products. 
More stringent restrictions could make our products less desirable which would adversely affect our sales and profitability. All states 
where our products are used also require registration before they can be marketed or used in that state. 

Governmental regulatory authorities have required, and may require in the future, that certain scientific testing and data 
production be provided on our products. Under FIFRA, the federal government requires registrants to submit a wide range of scientific 
data to support U.S. registrations. This requirement significantly increases our operating expenses, and we expect those expenses will 
continue in the future. Because scientific analyses are constantly improving, we cannot determine with certainty whether or not new or 
additional tests may be required by regulatory authorities. While Good Laboratory Practice standards specify the minimum practices 
and procedures that must be followed in order to ensure the quality and integrity of data related to these tests submitted to the EPA, 
there can be no assurance that the EPA will not request certain tests or studies be repeated. In addition, more stringent legislation or 
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requirements may be imposed in the future. We can provide no assurance that our resources will be adequate to meet the costs of 
regulatory compliance or that the cost of such compliance will not adversely affect our profitability. 

Future climate change regulation could result in increased operating costs and reduced demand for our products. 

Although the United States has not ratified the Kyoto Protocol, a number of federal laws related to “greenhouse gas,” or 
“GHG,” emissions have been considered by Congress. Because of the lack of any comprehensive legislation program addressing 
GHGs, the EPA is using its existing regulatory authority to promulgate regulations requiring reduction in GHG emissions from 
various categories of sources. The EPA attempted to require the permitting of GHG emissions, starting with the largest sources first. 
Although the Supreme Court struck down the permitting requirements, it upheld the EPA’s authority to control GHG emissions when 
a permit is required due to emissions of other pollutants. Additionally, various state, local and regional regulations and initiatives have 
been enacted or are being considered. 

Member States of the European Union each have an overall cap on emissions which are approved by the European Commission 
and implement the EU Emissions Trading Directive as a commitment to the Kyoto Protocol. Under this Directive, organizations apply 
to the Member State for an allowance of GHG emissions. These allowances are tradable so as to enable companies that manage to 
reduce their GHG emissions to sell their excess allowances to companies that are not reaching their emissions objectives. Failure to 
purchase sufficient allowances will require the purchase of allowances at a current market price. 

Any laws or regulations that may be adopted to restrict or reduce emissions of GHGs could cause an increase to our raw 
material costs, could require us to incur increased operating costs and could have an adverse effect on demand for our products. 

The Registration Evaluation and Authorization of Chemicals (“REACH”) legislation may affect our ability to manufacture and 
sell certain products in the European Union. 

REACH, which was effective on June 1, 2007, requires chemical manufacturers and importers in the European Union to prove 
the safety of their products. As a result, we were required to pre-register certain products and file comprehensive reports, including 
testing data, on each chemical substance, and perform chemical safety assessments. Additionally, substances of high concern are 
subject to an authorization process. Authorization may result in restrictions on certain uses of products or even prohibitions on the 
manufacture or importation of products. The full registration requirements of REACH will be phased in over several years. We will 
incur additional expense to cause the registration of our products under these regulations. REACH may also affect our ability to 
manufacture and sell certain products in the European Union. 

Our products may be rendered obsolete or less attractive by changes in industry requirements or by supply-chain driven pressures 
to shift to environmentally preferable alternatives. 

Changes in regulatory, legislative and industry requirements, or changes driven by supply-chain pressures, may shift current 
customers away from products using penta or certain of our other products and toward alternative products that are believed to have 
fewer environmental effects. The EPA, foreign and state regulators, local governments, private environmental advocacy organizations 
and a number of large industrial companies have proposed or adopted policies designed to decrease the use of a variety of chemicals, 
including penta and others included in certain of our products. Our ability to anticipate changes in regulatory, legislative, and industry 
requirements, or changes driven by supply-chain pressures, will be a significant factor in our ability to remain competitive. Further, 
we may not be able to comply with changed or new regulatory or industrial standards that may be necessary for us to remain 
competitive. 

We cannot assure you that the EPA, foreign and state regulators and local governments will not restrict the uses of penta or 
certain of our other products or ban the use of one or more of these products, or that the companies who use our products may decide 
to reduce significantly or cease the use of our products voluntarily. As a result, our products may become obsolete or less attractive to 
our customers. 

Volatility of oil and natural gas prices can adversely affect demand for our products and services. 
Volatility in oil and natural gas prices may impact our customers’ activity levels and spending for our products and services. 

Expectations about future prices and price volatility are important for determining future spending levels for customers of our 
industrial lubricants. 

Historically, world-wide oil and natural gas prices and markets have been volatile, and may continue to be volatile in the future. 
In particular, the prices of oil and natural gas were highly volatile in 2014, 2015 and 2016 and declined dramatically. Prices for oil and 
natural gas are subject to wide fluctuations in response to relatively minor changes in the supply of and demand for oil and natural gas, 
market uncertainty and a variety of additional factors that are beyond our control. These factors include, but are not limited to, 
increases in supplies from US shale production, international political conditions, including recent uprisings and political unrest in the 
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Middle East and Africa, the European sovereign debt crisis, the domestic and foreign supply of oil and natural gas, the level of 
consumer demand due to slowing economic growth in China and continued weak economic growth in Europe, weather conditions, 
domestic and foreign governmental regulations and taxes, the price and availability of alternative fuels, the health of international 
economic and credit markets, the ability of the members of the Organization of Petroleum Exporting Countries and other state-
controlled oil companies to agree upon and maintain oil price and production controls, and general economic conditions.  

Lower oil and natural gas prices generally lead to decreased spending by customers of our industrial lubricants. While higher oil 
and natural gas prices generally lead to increased spending by our customers in that business, sustained high energy prices can be an 
impediment to economic growth and to other segments of our business as described below, and can therefore negatively impact 
spending by some of our customers. Our customers also take into account the volatility of energy prices and other risk factors by 
requiring higher returns for individual projects if there is higher perceived risk. Any of these factors could affect the demand for oil 
and natural gas for our customers in the industrial lubricants and sealants business and could have a material adverse effect on our 
results of operations. 

The profitability of our electronic chemicals and some of our other chemicals could also be adversely affected by high petroleum 
prices. 

The profitability of our business depends, to a degree, upon the price of petroleum products, both as a component of 
transportation costs for delivery of products to our customers and as a raw material used to make some of our products, including 
penta solutions. High petroleum prices also affect the businesses of our customers. Our penta customers dissolve our product in 
petroleum based materials to make a treating solution for utility poles. Unfavorable changes in petroleum prices or in other business 
and economic conditions affecting our customers could reduce purchases of our products, and impose practical limits on our pricing. 
Any of these factors could lower our profit margins, and have a material adverse effect on our results of operations. We are unable to 
predict what the price of crude oil and petroleum-based products will be in the future. We may be unable to pass along to our 
customers the increased costs that result from higher petroleum prices.  

We may be unable to identify liabilities associated with the properties and businesses that may be acquired or obtain protection 
from sellers against them. 

The acquisition of properties and businesses requires assessment of a number of factors, including physical condition and 
potential environmental and other liabilities. Such assessments are inexact and inherently uncertain. The assessments made result from 
a due diligence review of the subject properties and businesses, but such a review may not reveal all existing or potential problems. 
We may not be able to obtain comprehensive contractual indemnities from the seller for liabilities that it created or that were created 
by any predecessor of the seller. We may be required to assume the risk of the physical or environmental condition of the properties 
and businesses in addition to the risk that the properties and businesses may not perform in accordance with expectations. 

We are dependent upon many critical systems and processes, many of which are dependent upon hardware that is concentrated in 
a limited number of locations. If a catastrophe or cyber security event were to occur at one or more of those locations or with our 
data, it could have a material adverse effect on our business. 

Our business is dependent on certain critical systems, which support various aspects of our operations, from our computer 
network to our billing and customer service systems. The hardware supporting a large number of such systems is housed in a small 
number of locations. If one or more of these locations were to be subject to fire, natural disaster, terrorism, power loss, or other 
catastrophe, it could have a material adverse effect on our business. While we believe that we maintain reasonable disaster recovery 
programs, there can be no assurance that, despite these efforts, any disaster recovery, security and service continuity protection 
measures we may have or may take in the future will be sufficient. 

In addition, we may be susceptible to acts of aggression on our critical operating system. Cyber security events such as 
computer viruses, electronic break-ins or other similar disruptive technological problems could also adversely affect our operations. 
Should such an event occur in the future, our insurance policies may not adequately compensate us for any losses that may occur due 
to any failures or interruptions in our computer systems and could affect our financial and operating results, causing disruptions in 
operations, damage of reputation, litigation, increased costs, or inaccurate information reported by our manufacturing facilities. 

Significant physical effects of climatic change have the potential to damage our facilities, disrupt our production activities and 
cause us to incur significant costs in preparing for or responding to those effects. 

In an interpretive guidance on climate change disclosure, the SEC indicates that climate change could have an effect on the 
severity of weather (including hurricanes and floods), sea levels, the arability of farmland, and water availability and quality. If such 
effects were to occur, our operations have the potential to be adversely affected. Potential adverse effects could include damages to 
our facilities from powerful winds or rising waters in low lying areas, disruption of our operations because of climate related damages 
to our facilities and our costs of operation potentially arising from such climatic effects, less efficient or non-routine operating 
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practices necessitated by climate effects, or increased costs for insurance coverage in the aftermath of such effects. Significant 
physical effects of climate change could also have an indirect effect on our operations by disrupting the transportation of our products 
or by disrupting the operations of suppliers with whom we have a business relationship. We may not be able to recover through 
insurance some or any of the damages, losses or costs that may result from potential physical effects of climate change.   

Weather may adversely impact our ability to conduct business. 

Our penta facility in Matamoros, Mexico, and several suppliers of raw materials for our electronic chemicals business are 
located on or near the Gulf of Mexico. Thus, we are dependent on terminals and facilities located in coastal areas for a substantial 
portion of certain of the raw materials we use, the penta we make and for our electronic chemicals products. These terminals and 
facilities are vulnerable to hurricanes, rising water and other adverse weather conditions that have the potential to cause substantial 
damage and to interrupt operations. There can be no assurance that adverse weather conditions will not affect the availability of penta 
and certain other raw materials in the future, the occurrence of which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition 
and results of operations. More generally, severe weather conditions have the potential to adversely affect our operations, damage 
facilities and increase our costs, and those conditions may also have an indirect effect on our financing and operations by disrupting 
services provided by service companies or suppliers with whom we have a business relationship. We may not be able to recover 
through insurance some or any of the damages, losses or costs that may result from potential physical effects of climate. 

Our business success depends significantly on the reliability and sufficiency of our manufacturing facilities. 

Our revenues depend significantly on the continued operation of our manufacturing facilities. The operation of our facilities 
involves risks, including the breakdown, failure, or substandard operation or performance of equipment, power outages, explosions, 
fires, earthquakes, other natural disasters, terrorism and other unscheduled downtime. The occurrence of material operational 
problems, the loss or shutdown of our facilities over an extended period of time due to these or other events could have a material 
adverse effect on our financial performance and operating results. 

Our business is subject to many operational risks for which we may not be adequately insured. 

We cannot assure you that we will not incur losses beyond the limits of, or outside the coverage of, our insurance policies. From 
time to time, various types of insurance for companies in the chemical industry have not been available on commercially acceptable 
terms or, in some cases, have been unavailable. In addition, we cannot assure you that in the future we will be able to maintain 
existing coverage or that our insurance premiums will not increase substantially. 

We maintain insurance coverage for sudden and accidental environmental damages. We do not believe that insurance coverage 
for environmental damages that occur over time is available at a reasonable cost. Also, we do not believe that insurance coverage for 
the full potential liability that could be caused by sudden and accidental incidences is available at a reasonable cost. Accordingly, we 
may be subject to an uninsured or under-insured loss in such cases. 

Our business may be adversely affected by cyclical and seasonal effects. 

In general, the chemical industry is cyclical and demand for our wood treating products and lubricants is somewhat seasonal. 
There is greater demand for our wood treating chemicals in the summer than in the winter because of the effects of weather on timber 
harvest, and the pipeline customers of our lubricants business tend to prefer doing maintenance on their systems from the spring 
through the fall seasons. Our electronic chemical products are often used to produce semiconductors for industries and applications 
that are cyclical in nature, as well as subject to customer marketing programs and requirements. There can be no assurance that our 
business, resources and margins will not be adversely affected by seasonal or cyclical effects.  

We depend on our senior management team and the loss of any member could adversely affect our operations. 

Our success is dependent on the management and leadership skills of our senior management team, including Christopher T. 
Fraser, our President and Chief Executive Officer, Marcelino Rodriguez, our Chief Financial Officer, Ernest C. Kremling, our Vice 
President of Operations, Andrew Lau, our Vice President of Electronic Chemicals, Michael A. Hoffman, our Vice President and 
General Manager of Wood Treating Chemicals, Jason Councill, our Vice President and General Manager of Industrial Valve 
Lubricants and Sealants, Christopher W. Gonser, our Vice President of Human Resources, and Roger C. Jackson, our General 
Counsel. While we have succession plans for key positions, the loss of any member of our senior management team or an inability to 
attract, retain and maintain additional qualified personnel could prevent us from implementing our business strategy. We cannot assure 
you that we will be able to retain our existing senior management personnel or attract additional qualified personnel when needed. 
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If we are unable to successfully negotiate with the labor unions representing our employees, we may experience a material work 
stoppage. 

Some of our full-time employees are represented by labor unions, workers councils or comparable organizations, particularly in 
Mexico and Europe. As our current agreements expire, we cannot assure you that new agreements will be reached at the end of each 
period without union action, or that a new agreement will be reached on terms satisfactory to us. An extended work stoppage, 
slowdown or other action by our employees could significantly disrupt our business. Future labor contracts may be on terms that result 
in higher labor costs to us, which also could adversely affect our results of operations. 

Our financial performance is subject to risks associated with changes in the value of the U.S. dollar versus local currencies. 
 

Our primary exposure to movements in foreign currency exchange rates relates to non-U.S. dollar denominated sales and 
operating expenses worldwide. Weakening of foreign currencies relative to the U.S. dollar adversely affects the U.S. dollar value of 
our foreign currency-denominated sales and earnings, and generally leads us to raise international pricing, potentially reducing 
demand for our products. Margins on sales of our products in foreign countries and on sales of products that include components 
obtained from foreign suppliers, could be materially adversely affected by foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations. In some 
circumstances, for competitive or other reasons, we may decide not to raise local prices to fully offset the dollar’s strengthening, or at 
all, which would adversely affect the U.S. dollar value of our foreign currency denominated sales and earnings. Conversely, a 
strengthening of foreign currencies relative to the U.S. dollar, while generally beneficial to our foreign currency-denominated sales 
and earnings, could cause us to reduce international pricing. Additionally, strengthening of foreign currencies may also increase our 
cost of product components denominated in those currencies, thus adversely affecting gross margins. 
 

Additionally, because our consolidated financial statements are presented in U.S. dollars, we must translate revenues, income 
and expenses, as well as assets and liabilities, into U.S. dollars at exchange rates in effect during or at the end of each reporting period. 
Therefore, increases or decreases in the value of the U.S. dollar against other major currencies may affect our revenues, operating 
income and the value of balance sheet items denominated in foreign currencies. We do not use derivative financial instruments to 
reduce our net exposure to currency exchange rate fluctuations. We cannot assure you that fluctuations in foreign currency exchange 
rates, particularly the strengthening of the U.S. dollar against major currencies or the currencies of large developing countries, would 
not materially affect our financial results. 

We are subject to narcotics gang disruption in Mexico and to possible risk of terrorist attacks, each of which could adversely affect 
our business. 

Our penta manufacturing facility is located in Matamoros, Mexico, an area where there has been violent crime involving 
narcotics gang warfare. Our penta operations could be disrupted or otherwise affected by narcotics gang activities in the Mexico 
border area where our facility is located. We are not insured against terrorist or narcotics gang attacks, and there can be no assurance 
that losses that could result from an attack on our facilities or personnel, railcars or tank trucks would not have a material adverse 
effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition. Since September 11, 2001, there has been concern that chemical 
manufacturing facilities and railcars carrying hazardous chemicals may be at an increased risk of terrorist attacks. Federal, state and 
local governments have begun a regulatory process that could lead to new regulations impacting the security of chemical industry 
facilities and the transportation of hazardous chemicals. Our business could be adversely impacted if a terrorist incident were to occur 
at any chemical facility or while a railcar or tank truck was transporting chemicals. 

We are subject to risks inherent in foreign operations, including changes in social, political and economic conditions. 

We have facilities in the United States, Mexico, Europe and Singapore, and generate a significant portion of our sales in foreign 
countries. Like other companies with foreign operations and sales, we are exposed to market risks relating to fluctuations in foreign 
currency exchange rates. At this time, the Euro and the Great Britain Pound are the functional currencies of our operations in Europe. 
We are also exposed to risks associated with changes in the laws and policies governing foreign investments in Mexico, Europe and 
Asia, and to a lesser extent, changes in United States laws and regulations relating to foreign trade and investment. On June 23, 2016, 
the United Kingdom (U.K.) held a referendum in which voters approved an exit from the European Union, commonly referred to as 
“Brexit.” As a result of the referendum, it is expected that the British government will begin negotiating the terms of the U.K.’s future 
relationship with the European Union. Although it is unknown what those terms will be, it is possible that there will be greater 
restrictions on imports and exports between the U.K. and European Union countries, a fluctuation in currency exchange rates and 
increased regulatory complexities. These changes may adversely affect our operations and financial results. While such changes in 
laws, regulations and conditions have not had a material adverse effect on our business or financial condition to date, we cannot assure 
you as to the future effect of any such changes. 
 
 
ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS 

None. 
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES 

As of July 31, 2016, we own or lease the following properties. 
 

Location  Primary Use  Approximate Size  
Owned/ 
Leased  

Lease Expiration 
Date 

Fort Worth, Texas  Corporate Office  27,778 square feet  Leased  December 2028 
     

Houston, Texas  Former Corporate Office  17,527 square feet  Leased  January 2017 
     

Tuscaloosa, Alabama  Formulation and Distribution: Penta  2.0 acres  Owned  N/A 
     

Hollister, California  Manufacture and Warehouse:  
Electronic Chemicals 

 4.4 acres  Owned  N/A 

     

Pueblo, Colorado    Manufacture and Warehouse:  
Electronic Chemicals 

 37.4 acres  Owned  N/A 

         

Houston, Texas  Formulation and Distribution: 
Lubricants 

 1.2 acres  Leased  June 2017 

     

Rousset, France  Warehouse and adjacent land: 
Electronic Chemicals 

 1.2 acres  Leased  December 2023 and 
December 2024 

     

St. Cheron, France  Manufacture and Warehouse:  
Electronic Chemicals 

 4.0 acres  Owned  N/A 

     

St. Fromond, France  Manufacture and Warehouse:  
Electronic Chemicals 

 71.6 acres  Owned  N/A 

         

Milan, Italy  Warehouse: Electronic Chemicals  4.9 acres  Owned  N/A 
     

Milan, Italy  Manufacture: Electronic Chemicals  2.5 acres  Owned  N/A 
     

Johor Bahru, Malaysia  Sales office: Electronic Chemicals  1,360 square feet  Leased  March 2018 
     

Johor Bahru, Malaysia  Warehouse: Electronic Chemicals  750 square feet  Leased  May 2017 
     

Matamoros, Mexico  Manufacture and Warehouse: Penta  13.0 acres  Owned  N/A 
     

Singapore  Warehouses (2): Electronic Chemicals  3.0 acres  Leased  May 2017 and  
September 2019 

     

Singapore  Manufacturing and Warehouse: 
Electronic Chemicals 

 4.9 acres  Leased  October 2031 

         

Riddings, UK  Manufacture and Warehouse:  
Electronic Chemicals 

 4.2 acres  Leased  August 2025 

We believe that all of these properties are adequately insured, in good condition and suitable for their anticipated future use. We 
believe that if the leases for our offices and facilities in Malaysia and France are not renewed or are terminated, we can obtain other 
suitable facilities. If our warehouses and facilities in Singapore and the United Kingdom, respectively, were not renewed or 
terminated, no assurance can be given that we could obtain suitable substitutes without incurring substantial expense. We believe, 
however, that we will be able to renew our leases on acceptable terms and conditions at the end of their respective terms.   

We also have several storage agreements with commercial warehouses from which we distribute our electronic chemicals.  
 
 
ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 

The information set forth in Note 8 to the consolidated financial statements included in Item 8 of Part II of this report is 
incorporated herein by reference. 
 
 
ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES 

Not applicable. 
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PART II 
 
 

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER 
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES 

Our common stock, par value $.01 per share, is traded on The New York Stock Exchange (trading symbol KMG). As of 
October 11, 2016, there were 11,762,590 shares of common stock issued and outstanding held by approximately 385 shareholders of 
record. The following table represents the high and low sale prices for our common stock as reported by the New York Stock 
Exchange for fiscal year 2016 and fiscal year 2015. The table also shows quarterly dividends we declared and paid during fiscal years 
2016 and 2015. 

    Common Stock Prices     Dividends Declared and Paid   
    High     Low     Per Share     Amount   
Fiscal 2016                                 

First Quarter   $ 23.35     $ 18.45     $ 0.03     $ 351,000   
Second Quarter     26.00       18.87       0.03       352,000   
Third Quarter     24.64       19.57       0.03       352,000   
Fourth Quarter     28.77       20.85       0.03       352,000   

Fiscal 2015                                 
First Quarter   $ 18.00     $ 14.04     $ 0.03     $ 350,000   
Second Quarter     21.14       17.20       0.03       350,000   
Third Quarter     30.97       21.79       0.03       350,000   
Fourth Quarter     31.90       21.68       0.03       351,000   

  
  

We intend to pay out a reasonable share of cash from operations as dividends, consistent on average with the payout record of 
past years. We declared a dividend in the first quarter of fiscal year 2017 of $0.03 per share. The current quarterly dividend rate 
represents an annualized dividend of $0.12 per share. The future payment of dividends, however, will be within the discretion of the 
Board of Directors and depends on our profitability, capital requirements, financial condition, growth, business opportunities and other 
factors which our Board of Directors may deem relevant. We repurchased no shares in fiscal years 2016 or 2015. 

Our 2016 Long-Term Incentive Plan was submitted to the shareholders and approved at our annual meeting of shareholders on 
January 12, 2016. Our 2009 Long-Term Incentive Plan was submitted to the shareholders and approved at our annual meeting of 
shareholders on December 8, 2009. 

The following information respecting our outstanding options, warrants and rights is provided as of July 31, 2016: 

 
    

Number of 
securities 

to be issued 
upon 

exercise of 
outstanding 

options, 
warrants and 

rights     

Weighted- 
average 

exercise price of 
outstanding 

options, 
warrants and 

rights     

Number of 
securities 

available for 
future 

issuance 
under equity 
compensation 

plans 
(excluding 
securities 
reflected 

in column (a))   
    (a)     (b)     (c)   
Plan Category Equity compensation plans 
   approved by security holders     —     $ —       174,014   
Equity compensation plans not approved by 
   security holders     —       —       —   
Total     —     $ —       174,014   
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA 

The following table shows selected historical consolidated financial data for the five fiscal years ended July 31, 2016. The 
consolidated statements of income and cash flow data for each of the three fiscal years ended July 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, and the 
balance sheet data as of July 31, 2016 and 2015, have been derived from our audited consolidated financial statements included 
elsewhere in this report. The consolidated statements of income and cash flow data for the fiscal years ended July 31, 2013 and 2012, 
and the balance sheet data as of July 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 have been derived from our previously issued audited consolidated 
financial statements. The data should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and notes to consolidated 
financial statements. 
  
    Year Ended July 31,   

    2016     2015     2014     2013     2012   
Statement of Income Data(1)                                         
Net sales   $ 297,978     $ 320,498     $ 353,406     $ 263,311     $ 272,700   
Operating income     27,571       16,589       3,951       17,180       25,437   
Income/(loss) from continuing operations     18,675       12,138       (988 )     9,486       14,315   
Net income/(loss)     18,675       12,138       (988 )     9,348       13,825   
Income/(loss) per share from continuing operations- 
   basic   $ 1.59     $ 1.04     $ (0.09 )   $ 0.82     $ 1.26   
Loss per share from discontinued 
   operations-basic     —       —       —       (0.01 )     (0.04 ) 
Income/(loss) per share-basic   $ 1.59     $ 1.04     $ (0.09 )   $ 0.81     $ 1.22   
Income/(loss) per share from continuing operations- 
   diluted   $ 1.57     $ 1.03     $ (0.09 )   $ 0.82     $ 1.24   
Loss per share from discontinued 
   operations-diluted     —       —       —       (0.01 )     (0.04 ) 
Income/(loss) per share-diluted   $ 1.57     $ 1.03     $ (0.09 )   $ 0.81     $ 1.20   
Cash Flow Data(1)                                         
Net cash provided by operating activities   $ 41,034     $ 17,568     $ 40,358     $ 20,272     $ 25,249   
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities     (17,037 )     (18,288 )     (9,274 )     (68,113 )     4,043   
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities     (18,563 )     (9,091 )     (26,065 )     59,992       (29,275 ) 
Payment of dividends     (1,406 )     (1,402 )     (1,393 )     (1,378 )     (1,249 ) 
Balance Sheet Data(1)                                         
Total assets   $ 237,028     $ 242,359     $ 250,858     $ 262,015     $ 167,690   
Long-term debt     35,800       53,000       60,000       85,000       24,000   
Total stockholders’ equity     143,189       123,421       120,206       117,240       106,767   
  

(1) Our historical results are not necessarily indicative of results to be expected for any future period. The comparability of the data 
is affected by our acquisitions during the fiscal years 2016, 2015 and 2013; the disposition of our creosote distribution business 
during the fiscal year 2015; and our restructuring and realignment of operations during the fiscal years 2016, 2015 and 2014 as 
described in Item 7, Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations. 

 
 



15 

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF 
OPERATIONS 

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with 
the “Selected Financial Data” section of this report and our consolidated financial statements and the related notes and other 
financial information included elsewhere in this report. In addition to historical financial information, the following discussion and 
analysis contains forward-looking statements that involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions. Our actual results and timing of 
selected events may differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of many factors, including 
those discussed under the section entitled “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this report. 

Introduction 
We manufacture, formulate and globally distribute specialty chemicals. We operate businesses selling electronic chemicals, 

industrial valve lubricants and sealants and industrial wood treating chemicals. Our electronic chemicals are sold to the semiconductor 
industry where they are used primarily to clean and etch silicon wafers in the production of semiconductors. Our valve lubricants and 
sealants enable optimal valve operation and provide important safety and environmental benefits, including preventing fugitive 
emissions and minimizing costly downtime at oil and gas storage facilities and pipelines. Our wood treating chemicals, based on 
penta, are used by industrial customers primarily to extend the useful life of utility poles and cross-arms. 

In fiscal year 2016, approximately 87.8% of our revenues were from our electronic chemicals segment, and 12.2% were from 
our other chemicals segment, which includes our industrial lubricants and our wood treating chemicals. 

Our results of operations are impacted by various competitive and other factors including: 

x fluctuations in sales volumes; 

x raw material pricing and availability; 

x our ability to acquire and integrate new products and businesses; and 

x the difference between prices received by us for our specialty chemical products and the costs to produce those products. 

Acquisition of Nagase Finechem Singapore (Pte) Ltd. 

On April 4, 2016, we completed the acquisition of Nagase Finechem Singapore (Pte) Ltd. (“NFC”), a Singapore-based 
manufacturer of electronic chemicals, for a cash purchase price of $2.9 million, including $1.1 million of estimated net working 
capital. NFC’s five-acre Singapore site comprises a manufacturing and packaging facility, warehouse, laboratory and cleanroom. The 
acquired company manufactures wet process chemicals, including solvents, acids and custom blends for the electronics market, 
including the liquid crystal display and semiconductor markets, and provides recycling and refining services for certain customers. We 
recorded a $1.8 million bargain purchase gain for the year ended July 31, 2016 related to this acquisition. See Note 2 to the 
consolidated financial statements included in this report. 

Acquisition of Valves Incorporation of Texas 

On May 1, 2015, we completed the acquisition of Valves Incorporated of Texas, a privately held Texas corporation, pursuant to 
the terms of a previously announced agreement and plan of merger. The acquired company manufactures and distributes industrial 
sealants and lubricants, primarily to the oil and gas storage, pipeline and gas distribution markets, as well as related products, such as 
lubrication equipment and fittings. In addition to the lubricants business, Valves Incorporated of Texas also owned 606,875 shares of 
our common stock. The aggregate merger consideration to the former shareholders of Valves Incorporated of Texas was 606,875 
shares of our common stock plus $23.7 million in cash. The 606,875 shares previously owned by Valves Incorporated of Texas were 
cancelled as of the time of the merger, and no additional net shares were issued as a result of the merger. At the closing of the merger, 
Valves Incorporated of Texas merged into Val-Tex, our wholly owned subsidiary. See Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements 
included in this report. 

Sale of Creosote Distribution Business 

On January 16, 2015, we sold our creosote distribution business, part of our previous wood treating chemicals segment, to 
Koppers Inc. pursuant to an asset purchase agreement. Creosote is a wood preservative used to treat utility poles and railroad crossties. 
The transaction closed concurrently with the signing of the asset purchase agreement. Assets that were sold in the transaction included 
our EPA registrations for creosote, creosote inventory, railcar and tank terminal leases and various customer agreements. The sale 
price for the assets was approximately $14.9 million. The gain on the sale was $5.4 million. 



16 

Restructuring and Realignment of Operations 

As part of the global restructuring of our electronic chemicals operations, we have closed our Fremont, California 
manufacturing site acquired in our acquisition of the ultra pure chemicals (“UPC”) business subsidiaries of OM Group, Inc. and 
production has been shifted primarily to our Hollister, California and Pueblo, Colorado facilities. We have also closed one of our 
facilities in Milan, Italy, and shifted some production to our facilities in France and the United Kingdom. We are decommissioning 
certain manufacturing equipment in Milan. That effort was essentially complete by July 31, 2016. Total accelerated depreciation 
related to the closure of the Milan facility for fiscal year 2016 was $0.3 million. During fiscal years 2016 and 2015, we incurred $1.8 
million and $1.3 million, respectively, related to restructuring costs, primarily due to accelerated depreciation. 

In October, 2014, we announced a realignment of our hydrofluoric acid business and subsequently exited the facility operated 
for us by Chemtrade Logistics in Bay Point, California. Operations ceased in the third quarter of fiscal year 2015. We incurred certain 
employee costs of $0.1 million during fiscal year 2016. In fiscal year 2015, we incurred realignment charges of $4.8 million for 
accelerated depreciation and certain employment costs of $0.8 million. 

See Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements included in this report. 

Results of Operations 

Segment Data 

Segment data is presented for our two reportable segments for the three fiscal years ended July 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014. The 
segment data should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this 
report. The information presented for the other chemicals segment for fiscal year 2014 represents information that was previously 
reported in our wood treating chemicals operations. Following the sale of our creosote distribution business in January 2015 and the 
acquisition of our industrial lubricants business on May 1, 2015, our wood treating chemicals operations were combined with the 
newly acquired industrial lubricants business to form the other chemicals segment, as discussed in Note 12 to our consolidated 
financial statements included in this report.    
  

    Year Ended July 31,   
    2016     2015     2014   
    (Amounts in thousands)   
Sales:                         

Electronic chemicals   $ 261,523     $ 265,608     $ 253,754   
Other chemicals     36,455       54,820       99,514   

Total sales for reportable segments   $ 297,978     $ 320,428     $ 353,268   

Segment Sales 

In fiscal year 2016, net sales in the electronic chemicals segment were $261.5 million, a decrease of $4.1 million, or 1.5%, 
below net sales of $265.6 million in fiscal year 2015. In fiscal year 2015, net sales in the electronic chemicals segment increased $11.8 
million, or 4.6%, over net sales of $253.8 million in fiscal year 2014. In fiscal year 2016, the decrease in net sales from the prior year 
came primarily from the impact from the stronger U.S. dollar, which reduced sales by $6.0 million, and decreased service sales in Asia 
upon the cessation of certain chemical service relationships, largely offset by volume growth in North America. In fiscal year 2015, 
the increase in net sales from the prior year came primarily from increased sales volume and pricing in North America and Asia, offset 
to a degree by weaker sales in Europe, primarily due to the stronger U.S. dollar. 

Net sales of other chemicals in fiscal year 2016 were $36.5 million, a decrease of $18.3 million, or 33.4%, from $54.8 million in 
fiscal year 2015. Net sales of other chemicals in fiscal year 2015 decreased by $44.7 million, or 44.9%, from $99.5 million in fiscal 
year 2014. The decrease in fiscal years 2016 and 2015 came from less sales due to the divestiture of the creosote business in January 
2016, partially offset by sales from the industrial lubricants business acquired in May 2015. 

Segment Income from Operations 

Income from operations of the electronic chemicals segment was $32.1 million in fiscal year 2016, as compared to $21.8 million 
in fiscal year 2015 and $14.1 million in fiscal year 2014. Income from operations of electronic chemicals increased by $10.3 million, 
or 47.2%, in fiscal year 2016 as compared to the prior year period, and increased by $7.7 million, or 54.6%, in fiscal year 2015 as 
compared to the prior year period. 

The fiscal year 2016 improvement in income from operations in electronic chemicals was primarily due to increased sales 
volume in North America and Asia, operating efficiencies realized from our manufacturing consolidation in Europe and North 
America, and lower distribution costs in North America. The fiscal year 2015 improvement in income from operations in electronic 
chemicals was primarily due to increased sales volume in North America and Asia, partially offset by weaker sales in Europe.  
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In fiscal year 2016, income from operations of the other chemicals segment was $12.6 million as compared to $8.7 million in 
fiscal year 2015 and $8.4 million in fiscal year 2014. Income from operations for the other chemicals segment increased by $3.9 
million, or 44.8% in fiscal year 2016, and increased $0.3 million, or 3.6%, in fiscal year 2015, as compared to the respective prior year 
period. 

Income from operations of the other chemicals segment improved in each of fiscal years 2016 and 2015 primarily due to the 
acquisition of the industrial lubricants business. 

Net Sales and Gross Profit 

Net Sales and Gross Profit for Fiscal Year 2016 vs. Fiscal Year 2015 

Net sales decreased $22.5 million, or 7.0% in fiscal year 2016 to $298.0 million from $320.5 million in fiscal year 2015. Net 
sales for fiscal year 2016 decreased compared to the prior year period primarily because of the divestiture of the creosote business in 
January 2015. The decrease was partially offset by increased sales in the electronic chemicals segment and from sales in the industrial 
lubricants business acquired in May 2015. 

Gross profits increased by $6.0 million, or 5.5%, to $115.5 million compared to $109.5 million in fiscal year 2015. The increase 
in gross profit was due to cost improvements from manufacturing consolidation in the electronic chemicals segment and the full year 
impact of sales in our industrial lubricants business acquired in May 2015. Gross profit as a percent of sales increased in fiscal 2016 to 
38.8% from 34.2% in fiscal 2015. The improvements in gross profits as a percentage of sales in fiscal year 2016 as compared to 2015 
was due to improved margins in electronic chemicals, operating efficiencies realized from the consolidation of our electronic 
chemicals operations as a result of restructuring and realignment of our operations in Europe and improved margin on sales in our 
other chemicals segment. The sale of our creosote distribution business in January 2015, which by comparison had lower profit 
margins, also had the effect of improving gross profit as a percentage of sales. 

Because other companies may include certain of the costs that we record in cost of sales in distribution expenses or selling, 
general and administrative expenses, and may include certain of the costs that we record in distribution expenses or selling, general 
and administrative expenses as cost of sales, our gross profit may not be comparable to that reported by other companies. 

Net Sales and Gross Profit for Fiscal Year 2015 vs. Fiscal Year 2014 

Net sales decreased $32.9 million, or 9.3% in fiscal year 2015 to $320.5 million from $353.4 million in fiscal year 2014. Net 
sales for fiscal year 2015 decreased compared to the prior year period primarily because creosote sales ceased upon the divestiture of 
the creosote business in January 2015. The decrease was partially offset by increased sales in the electronic chemicals segment and the 
acquisition of the industrial lubricants business acquired in May 2015. 

Gross profits increased by $6.0 million, or 5.8%, to $109.5 million compared to $103.5 million in fiscal year 2014. The increase 
in gross profit was the result of increased sales in our electronic chemicals business and the acquisition of our industrial business. 
Gross profit as a percent of sales increased in fiscal 2015 to 34.2% from 29.3% in fiscal 2014. The improvements in gross profits as a 
percentage of sales in fiscal year 2015 as compared to 2014 was due to the sale of our creosote distribution business, which included 
products with lower profit margins. In addition, gross profit margins increased in electronic chemicals due to synergies realized from 
our manufacturing consolidation in North America. 

Distribution and Selling, General and Administrative Expenses 

Distribution and Selling, General and Administrative Expenses for Fiscal Year 2016 vs. Fiscal Year 2015 

Distribution expenses decreased to approximately $37.0 million in fiscal year 2016 from $48.5 million in fiscal year 2015, a 
decrease of $11.5 million, or 23.7%. Distribution expense is heavily concentrated in our electronic chemicals business. The electronic 
chemicals segment incurred approximately 99% and 94% of our distribution expense in fiscal years 2016 and 2015, respectively. 
Distribution expense decreased in fiscal year 2016 because of lower freight costs of $4.1 million, a $2.6 million reduction in 
distribution expenses from the sale of our creosote distribution business in January 2015 and from $4.2 million from the cessation of 
certain chemicals service relationships in Asia. Distribution expense was 12.4% of consolidated net sales in fiscal year 2016 and 
15.1% in fiscal year 2015. 

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased to $49.2 million in fiscal year 2016 from $37.5 million in fiscal year 
2015, an increase of $11.7 million, or 31.2%. As a percentage of net sales, those expenses were 16.5% and 11.7% in fiscal years 2016 
and 2015, respectively. Selling, general and administrative expenses rose in fiscal year 2016 by $2.7 million from businesses acquired 
in fiscal years 2016 and 2015, $1.3 million in professional service expenses for Sarbanes-Oxley compliance and audit, $1.1 million for 
short term incentive compensation, $2.0 million in stock-based compensation, $1.0 million in additional depreciation and amortization 
and $1.5 million in net relocation expenses for the move of our corporate office. 
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Distribution and Selling, General and Administrative Expenses for Fiscal Year 2015 vs. Fiscal Year 2014 

Distribution expenses decreased to approximately $48.5 million in fiscal year 2015 from $50.3 million in fiscal year 2014, a 
decrease of $1.8 million, or 2.9%. Distribution expense is heavily concentrated in our electronic chemicals business. The electronic 
chemicals segment incurred approximately 94% and 89% of our distribution expense in fiscal years 2015 and 2014, respectively. 
Distribution expense decreased in fiscal year 2015, despite greater volume shipments in North America, because of lower volume 
shipments in the segment in Europe, improved cost control in Asia and the sale of the creosote business. Distribution expense was 
15.1% of consolidated net sales in fiscal year 2015 and 14.2% in fiscal year 2014. The increase in distribution expense as a percent of 
net sales in fiscal year 2015 was predominantly due to increased deliveries of inventory to expand a customer’s safety stock in local 
third party warehouses and the sale of the creosote business, which had relatively low distribution expenses. 

Selling, general and administrative expenses decreased to $37.5 million in fiscal year 2015 from $38.4 million in fiscal year 
2014, a decrease of $0.9 million, or 2.3%. As a percentage of net sales, those expenses were 11.7% and 10.9% in fiscal years 2015 and 
2014, respectively. The decrease in fiscal year 2015 over the prior year was primarily because we incurred $1.3 million of CEO 
transition costs in the first quarter of fiscal year 2014. Stock-based compensation expenses increased by $1.6 million during fiscal year 
2015 as compared to 2014 (excluding $1.0 million related to CEO transition costs incurred in fiscal year 2014), but the increase was 
largely offset by lower professional service fees. 

Adjusted EBITDA, Adjusted Net Income and Adjusted Diluted Earnings Per Share 

Net income was $18.7 million in fiscal year 2016, an increase of $6.6 million, or 54.5%, as compared to $12.1 million in fiscal 
year 2015. Diluted earnings per share was $1.57 and $1.03 in fiscal years 2016 and 2015, respectively. 

Adjusted EBITDA (as defined below under Non-GAAP Financial Measures) excludes, among other items, the effect of 
acquisition-related restructuring, the realignment of the hydrofluoric acid business, integration, CEO transition expenses and expenses 
incurred related to the relocation of our corporate headquarters to Fort Worth, Texas. In fiscal year 2016, adjusted EBITDA was $45.4 
million, an increase of $8.3 million, or 22.4%, as compared to $37.1 million in fiscal year 2015. The improvement in fiscal year 2016 
adjusted EBITDA reflects increases in electronic chemicals sales volume in North America, operating efficiencies from manufacturing 
consolidations in electronic chemicals, lower distribution costs in North America and the contribution of acquisitions in fiscal years 
2016 and 2015, but offset by higher corporate expenses. 

In fiscal year 2016, adjusted diluted earnings per share (as defined below under Non-GAAP Financial Measures) was $1.61, 
compared to $1.21 in fiscal year 2015. The increase in fiscal year 2016 in adjusted diluted earnings per share primarily reflects the 
improved profitability described above, reduced restructuring and realignment expenses and the effect of acquisitions and divestitures 
in fiscal years 2016 and 2015. 

Non-GAAP Financial Measures 

We provide certain non-GAAP financial information to complement reported GAAP results including adjusted EBITDA, 
adjusted net income and adjusted diluted earnings per share. We believe that analysis of our financial performance is enhanced by an 
understanding of these non-GAAP financial measures. We believe that they aid in evaluating the underlying operational performance 
of our business, and facilitate comparisons between periods. Non-GAAP financial information, such as adjusted EBITDA, is used 
externally by users of our consolidated financial statements, such as analysts and investors. A similar calculation of adjusted EBITDA 
is utilized internally for executives’ compensation and by our lenders for a key debt compliance ratio. 

We define adjusted EBITDA as earnings from continuing operations before interest, taxes, depreciation, amortization, 
acquisition and integration expenses, restructuring and realignment charges and other designated items. Adjusted EBITDA is a 
primary measurement of cash flows from operations and a measure of our ability to invest in our operations and provide shareholder 
returns. Adjusted EBITDA is not intended to represent United States GAAP definitions of cash flow from operations or net 
income/(loss). Adjusted net income adjusts net income for acquisition and integration expenses, restructuring and realignment charges 
and other designated items, while adjusted diluted earnings per share is adjusted net income divided by diluted shares outstanding. 

Adjusted EBITDA, adjusted net income and adjusted diluted earnings per share should be viewed as supplements to, and not 
substitutes for, United States GAAP measures of performance and are not necessarily comparable to similarly titled measures used by 
other companies. 
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The table below provides a reconciliation of net income/(loss) to adjusted EBITDA. 
  

    Year Ended July 31,   
    2016     2015     2014   
    (Amounts in thousands)   
Net income/(loss)   $ 18,675     $ 12,138     $ (988 ) 
Interest expense     799       1,407       2,854   
Income taxes     9,555       6,746       1,254   
Depreciation and amortization     14,829       19,171       18,327   
Other non-operating expense     —       1,250       —   
Gain on purchase of NFC     (1,826 )     —       —   
Gain on sale of creosote distribution business, net     —       (5,448 )     —   
Acquisition and integration expenses     335       530       1,249   
CEO transition costs     —       —       1,280   
Restructuring and realignment charges, excluding accelerated 
   depreciation     1,464       1,264       3,925   
Corporate relocation expense     1,553       —       —   
Impairment charges     —       —       2,741   
Adjusted EBITDA   $ 45,384     $ 37,058     $ 30,642   

 
The table below provides a reconciliation of net income/(loss) to adjusted net income and adjusted diluted earnings per share. 

  
    Year Ended July 31,   
    2016     2015     2014(1)   
    (Amounts in thousands, except per share)   
Net income/(loss)   $ 18,675     $ 12,138     $ (988 ) 
Items impacting pre-tax income:                         

Restructuring and realignment charges     1,759       6,904       10,876   
Acquisition and integration expenses     335       530       1,249   
Corporate relocation expense     1,553       —       —   
CEO transition costs     —       —       1,280   
Gain on purchase of NFC     (1,826 )     —       —   
Gain on sale of creosote business     —       (5,448 )     —   
Environmental site cleanup reserve     —       1,250       —   
Restructuring income tax expense     —       —       1,725   
Income taxes(2)     (1,277 )     (1,133 )     (4,692 ) 

Adjusted net income   $ 19,219     $ 14,241     $ 9,450   
                          
Diluted earnings/(loss) per share   $ 1.57     $ 1.03     $ (0.09 ) 
Adjusted diluted earnings per share   $ 1.61     $ 1.21     $ 0.81   
Weighted average diluted shares outstanding     11,926       11,779       11,644   

  

(1) Potentially dilutive shares are included in the weighted average diluted shares outstanding for the computation of adjusted 
diluted earnings per share for fiscal year 2014. 

(2) Represents the aggregate tax-effect of the items impacting pre-tax income using a tax rate of 35%, except for the gain on the 
purchase of NFC, which is not a recognized gain for tax purposes. 

Interest Expense 

Interest expense was $0.8 million in fiscal year 2016, $1.4 million in fiscal year 2015 and $2.9 million in fiscal year 2014. In 
fiscal year 2016, we paid $20.0 million towards our revolving loan facility, borrowed $2.8 million on our revolving loan facility for 
the acquisition of NFC, and reduced the debt from $53.0 million at the beginning of the fiscal year to $35.8 million at July 31, 2016. 

Income Taxes 

We had income tax expense of $9.6 million, $6.7 million and $1.3 million in fiscal years 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively. Our 
effective tax rate was 33.8% in fiscal year 2016, 35.7% in fiscal year 2015 and 471.4% in fiscal year 2014. For fiscal year 2016, the 
difference between the effective tax rate and the United States statutory rate of 35.0% is primarily due to state income taxes, the effect 
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of foreign operations and a change in the valuation allowance in Singapore, offset by the tax benefit from tax credits available to us 
and the effect of foreign currency fluctuations. 

Liquidity and Capital Resources 

Our principal requirements for capital funds are for our day-to-day operations, manufacturing and integration activities, and to 
satisfy our contractual obligations, including for the payment of interest on our indebtedness. 

Capital expenditures for fiscal year 2016 were approximately $14.4 million, excluding the acquisition of NFC, primarily for 
production asset replacements and refurbishments and manufacturing improvements, additional mobile assets and the capital 
expenditures related to the relocation of our corporate headquarters. For fiscal year 2017, we currently plan to spend a total of 
approximately $21.0 million in capital expenses for manufacturing expansion in Asia, ERP system implementation, including for our 
industrial lubricants subsidiary, and for production asset replacements and refurbishments and improvements. 

We expect to fund our 2017 capital budget predominantly with cash flows from operations, supplemented by borrowings under 
our credit facility. As of July 31, 2016, our cash and cash equivalents totaled $12.4 million. Cash and cash equivalents are held for 
working capital purposes. We do not enter into investments for trading or speculative purposes. 

We believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents, cash flows from our operating activities and available borrowing 
amounts under our credit facility will be sufficient to meet our anticipated cash needs for the next twelve months. Our future capital 
requirements will depend on many factors including our growth rate, the expansion of our sales and marketing activities, the 
introduction of new and enhanced products, the expansion of our manufacturing capacity and the continuing market acceptance of our 
products. In the event that additional financing is required from outside sources, we may not be able to raise it on terms acceptable to 
us, if at all. If we are unable to raise additional capital when desired, our business, operating results and financial condition would be 
adversely affected. 

Cash Flows 

Net cash provided by operating activities was $41.0 million in fiscal year 2016, $17.6 million in fiscal year 2015 and 
$40.4 million in fiscal year 2014. 

In fiscal year 2016, operating cash flows were favorably impacted by higher margins in our electronic chemicals and other 
chemicals segments, resulting in adjusted EBITDA of $45.4 million. In addition, we paid $11.5 million less for distribution expense 
and $2.4 million less for taxes in fiscal year 2016, compared to the prior year. Furthermore, improvements to our cash conversion 
cycle contributed to operating cash flows. Trade receivables decreased by $5.2 million and inventories decreased by $4.3 million 
within the electronic chemicals segment. However, accounts payable and other accrued liabilities decreased by $5.3 million when 
compared to higher than usual balances at the end of fiscal year 2015. 

In fiscal year 2015, operating cash flows were favorably impacted by higher sales in our electronic chemicals business resulting 
in adjusted EBITDA of $37.1 million. However, we made restructuring and realignment payments of $5.3 million and paid $11.2 
million more for income taxes during the year ended July 31, 2015 (including taxes relating to the sale of the creosote business). In 
addition, there was a decrease in accounts payable and accrued liabilities of $6.6 million, primarily due to the sale of the creosote 
distribution business and payments for professional fees that were accrued at prior year end. Additionally, the decrease in our cash 
conversion cycle made in the prior year was not repeated. 

In fiscal year 2014, operating cash flows increased significantly due to improvements in our cash conversion cycle. Trade 
accounts receivable decreased $2.1 million primarily in our electronic chemicals business in North America, and inventories decreased 
$7.9 million primarily in other chemicals due to lower creosote volumes. Accrued liabilities increased by $7.8 million in part due to 
restructuring and realignment accruals. Overall, fiscal year 2014 cash flows increased due to the UPC acquisition. 

In fiscal year 2016, cash used in investing activities was $17.0 million, compared to cash used in investing activities of $18.3 
million in fiscal year 2015. In addition, we spent $14.4 million for additions to property, plant and equipment, of which $8.4 million 
was for the electronic chemicals segment and the remainder was for the other chemicals segment and the capital expenditures related 
to the relocation of our corporate headquarters to Fort Worth, Texas. We also spent a net $2.7 million in connection with the 
acquisition of NFC. 

In fiscal year 2015, cash used in investing activities was $18.3 million, compared to cash used in investing activities of $9.3 
million in fiscal year 2014. We paid $21.9 million for the acquisition of our industrial lubricants business, which was partially offset 
by $14.9 million from the sale of our creosote business and $2.6 million from the sale of our Elwood, Kansas facility. In addition, we 
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spent $13.8 million for the additions to property, plant and equipment, of which $10.0 million was for electronic chemicals and $3.3 
million related to our global project to implement a comprehensive financial/enterprise management software solution with SAP.   

In fiscal year 2014, cash used in investing activities was $9.3 million, compared to cash used in investing activities of 
$68.1 million in fiscal year 2013. The fiscal year 2014 investing activities were for the additions to property, plant and equipment, of 
which $7.0 million was for electronic chemicals and $2.0 million related to our global project to implement a comprehensive 
financial/enterprise management software solution with SAP. 

In fiscal year 2016, net cash used in financing activities was $18.6 million. We paid down $20.0 million on our revolving credit 
facility and borrowed $2.8 million to finance the acquisition of NFC. In addition, we paid $1.4 million in dividends for the year ended 
July 31, 2016. 

In fiscal year 2015, net cash used in financing activities was $9.1 million. Including the refinancing of our debt, we paid down 
$30.5 million on our revolving credit facility and borrowed $23.5 million on our revolving credit facility to finance the acquisition of 
our industrial lubricants business. 

In fiscal year 2014, net cash used in financing activities was $26.1 million, out of which $25.0 million was used to pay down 
debt on our revolving credit facility. 

We paid dividends of $1.4 million in each of fiscal years 2016, 2015 and 2014. 

Working Capital 

On October 9, 2014, we refinanced our then existing revolving loan facility and entered into a new amended and restated credit 
agreement (the “Second Restated Credit Facility”) under which we have a revolving line of credit of $150.0 million. At July 31, 2016, 
we had $35.8 million outstanding under the revolving line of credit and an additional $2.7 million was reserved for outstanding letters 
of credit, with up to an additional $111.5 million of additional borrowing capacity. The amount that may be borrowed under the 
revolving credit facility is limited by a covenant for funded debt to pro-forma earnings before interest, taxes and depreciation 
(“EBITDA”), and at July 31, 2016, that covenant did not limit our additional borrowing capacity. 

The initial advance under the Second Restated Credit Facility was used to repay in full the $20.0 million outstanding 
indebtedness under our note purchase agreement with The Prudential Insurance Company of America and Pruco Life Insurance 
Company, and to refinance the $38.0 million then outstanding on our prior revolving loan facility. Management believes that the 
Second Restated Credit Facility, combined with cash flows from operations and existing cash and cash equivalents, will adequately 
provide for our working capital needs for current operations for the next twelve months. 

Long Term Obligations 

Our long-term debt and current maturities as of July 31, 2016 and July 31, 2015 consisted of the following (in thousands): 
 
  

    
July 31, 

2016     
July 31, 

2015   
Senior secured debt:                 
   Revolving loan facility, maturing on October 9, 2019, 
      variable interest rates based on LIBOR plus 1.0% 
      at July 31, 2016   $ 35,800     $ 53,000   

 

The Second Restated Credit Facility is with Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, Bank of America, N.A., HSBC Bank 
USA, National Association, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. The Second Restated Credit Facility provides for a revolving loan up to 
$150 million, including an accordion feature that allows for an additional revolving loan increase of up to $100 million with approval 
from our lenders. The maturity date for the Second Restated Credit Facility is October 9, 2019. 
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The revolving loan under the Second Restated Credit Facility bears interest at varying rate of LIBOR plus a margin based on 
funded debt to EBITDA, as described in the table. 
  

Ratio of Funded Debt to EBITDA   Margin   
Equal to or greater than 3.0 to 1.0     1.875 % 
Equal to or greater than 2.75 to 1.0, but less than 3.0 to 1.0     1.625 % 
Equal to or greater than 2.50 to 1.0, but less than 2.75 to 1.0     1.500 % 
Equal to or greater than 2.25 to 1.0, but less than 2.50 to 1.0     1.375 % 
Equal to or greater than 2.00 to 1.0, but less than 2.25 to 1.0     1.250 % 
Equal to or greater than 1.50 to 1.0, but less than 2.00 to 1.0     1.125 % 
Less than 1.50 to 1.0     1.000 % 

 
Advances under the revolving loan bore interest at 1.496% and 1.1890% as of July 31, 2016 and July 31, 2015, respectively. We 

also incur an unused commitment fee on the unused amount of commitments under the revolving loan facility from 0.30% to 0.15% 
based on ratio of funded debt to EBITDA.  

Loans under the Second Restated Credit Facility are secured by our assets, including stock in subsidiaries, inventory, accounts 
receivable, equipment, intangible assets, and real property. The credit facility has restrictive covenants, including requirements that we 
must maintain a fixed charge coverage ratio of 1.5 to 1.0, a ratio of funded debt to EBITDA (as adjusted for non-cash and unusual, 
non-recurring, and certain acquisition and integration costs) of 3.25 to 1.0 (with a step-up to 3.5 to 1.0 during an acquisition period 
with lender consent) and a current ratio of at least 1.5 to 1.0. As of July 31, 2016, we were in compliance with all of our debt 
covenants. 

Principal payments due under our long-term debt agreements as of July 31, 2016 were as follows (in thousands): 
  

    Total     2017     2018     2019     2020     2021     Thereafter   
Long-term debt   $ 35,800     $ —     $ —     $ —     $ 35,800     $ —     $ —   

Environmental Expenditures 

Our capital expenditures and operating expenses for environmental matters, excluding testing, data submission and other costs 
associated with our product task force participation, were approximately $2.6 million in fiscal year 2016, $2.5 million in fiscal year 
2015 and $2.7 million in fiscal year 2014. 

We expensed approximately $430,000 for testing, data submission and other costs associated with our participation in product 
task forces in fiscal year 2016, and approximately $977,000 and $667,000 in fiscal years 2015 and 2014, respectively. We estimate 
that we will continue to incur additional testing, data submission and other costs of approximately $235,000 in fiscal year 2017. Since 
environmental laws have traditionally become increasingly stringent, costs and expenses relating to environmental control and 
compliance may increase in the future. While we do not believe that the incremental cost of compliance with existing or future 
environmental laws and regulations will have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations, we 
cannot assure that costs of compliance will not exceed current estimates. 
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Contractual Obligations 

Our obligations to make future payments under contracts as of July 31, 2016 are summarized in the following table (in 
thousands): 
  

    Payments Due by Period (in thousands)   

    Total     1 Year     2-5 Years     
More than 5 

Years   
Long-term debt   $ 35,800     $ —     $ 35,800     $ —   
Estimated interest payments on debt(1)     872       533       339       —   
Operating leases     21,832       3,013       7,483       11,336   
Other long-term liabilities(2)     2,062       414       1,605       43   
Purchase obligations(3)     46,642       37,811       8,239       592   
Total   $ 107,208     $ 41,771     $ 53,466     $ 11,971   

  

(1) Estimated payments are based on interest rates in effect and the expected amount of outstanding borrowings on our revolving 
credit facility as of the end of July 2016. 

(2) Includes postretirement benefit obligations for a supplemental executive retirement plan for one of our former United States 
executives and in connection with benefit obligations of our foreign subsidiary; and estimated unused commitment fees on our 
revolving credit facility. 

(3) Consists primarily of raw materials purchase contracts. These are typically not fixed prices arrangements. The prices are based 
on the prevailing prices. 

Outlook for Fiscal Year 2017 

Our electronic chemicals business is closely tied to global semiconductor production. Following a projected decline in calendar 
year 2016, the global semiconductor market is expected to modestly grow in calendar year 2017, aided by gains across all major 
product categories and all regions.  

Our other chemicals segment consists of our penta business and a lubricants, sealants and related equipment business. We expect 
demand for utility poles treated with penta to decline moderately as compared to fiscal 2016. While pole purchasers throughout North 
American continue their normal pole maintenance and replacement programs, utilities in the Western United States are anticipated to 
slow their distribution infrastructure upgrades. Additionally, a slowing of solar and wind electricity projects will temper demand for 
penta-treated transmission poles. 

We believe that we will experience stronger demand for our lubricants, sealants and related equipment, which are used primarily 
for the maintenance and service of existing energy-related infrastructure. Energy prices increased in calendar 2016 and are forecast to 
increase further in calendar 2017, which we believe will stimulate incremental demand for our products. 

Overall, fiscal 2017 consolidated net sales are forecast to be between $300.0 and $305.0 million, compared to $298.0 million in 
fiscal 2016. The projected increase reflects anticipated growth in the electronic chemicals segment and higher sales in our lubricants, 
sealants and related equipment business, partially offset by a slight decline in our penta business. 

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 

We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements, such as financing or unconsolidated variable interest entities, other than 
operating leases. 

Recent Accounting Standards 

We have considered all recently issued accounting standards updates and SEC rules and interpretive releases, and are currently 
assessing the potential impacts on our financial statements. See Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements included in this report. 

Critical Accounting Policies 

Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America. The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires the use of estimates, judgments, and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the 
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the periods presented. The significant accounting principles that we believe are the 
most important to aid in fully understanding our financial results are the following: 
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Revenue Recognition — Our chemical products are sold in the open market and revenue is recognized when risk of loss and title 
to the products transfers to customers. In general, risk of loss transfers upon shipment to customers. We also recognize service revenue 
in connection with technical support services and chemicals delivery and handling at customer facilities. Revenue is recognized as 
those services are provided. 

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts — We record an allowance for doubtful accounts to reduce accounts receivable where we 
believe accounts receivable may not be collected. A provision for bad debt expense recorded to selling, general and administrative 
expenses increases the allowance. Accounts receivable that are written off decrease the allowance. The amount of bad debt expense 
recorded each period and the resulting adequacy of the allowance at the end of each period are determined using a customer-by-
customer analyses of accounts receivable balances each period and subjective assessments of future bad debt exposure. Historically, 
write offs of accounts receivable balances have been insignificant. The allowance was $210,000 and $144,000 at July 31, 2016 and 
2015, respectively. 

Goodwill — Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price paid for acquired businesses over the allocated fair value of 
the related net assets after impairments, if applicable.  

We evaluate goodwill for impairment annually, and when an event occurs or circumstances change to suggest that the carrying 
amount may not be recoverable. We have goodwill of $14.5 million and $7.7 million associated with our other chemicals and 
electronic chemicals segments, respectively, as of July 31, 2016. As part of the goodwill impairment analysis, current accounting 
standards give companies the option to first perform a qualitative assessment to determine whether it is more likely than not that the 
fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, including goodwill. If it is determined that it is more likely than not that 
the fair value of a reporting unit is greater than its carrying amount, then performing the currently prescribed two-step impairment test 
is unnecessary. In developing a qualitative assessment to meet the “more-likely-than-not” threshold, each reporting unit with goodwill 
on its balance sheet is assessed separately and different relevant events and circumstances are evaluated for each unit. If it is 
determined that it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, then the prescribed two-
step impairment test is performed. Current accounting standards also give us the option to bypass the qualitative assessment for any 
reporting unit in any period, and proceed directly to performing the first step of the two-step goodwill impairment test. We conduct 
our annual impairment test as of July of each year. In 2014, 2015 and 2016, we performed a qualitative assessment that indicated the 
fair value of each of our reporting units is greater than its carrying amount. In conjunction with the sale of our creosote distribution 
business on January 16, 2015, we allocated goodwill of approximately $662,000 that was previously a part of the wood treating 
chemicals reporting unit to the assets disposed of in the sale. Factors that could impact our future assessments or indicate potential 
impairment of our goodwill and long-lived assets include the overall profitability of each of our operations, a downturn in the 
semiconductor industry that our electronic chemicals business relies upon, a longer-term downturn in the oil and gas industry that our 
industrial lubricants business relies upon, or regulatory changes impacting our wood treating chemicals business, among other things.  
We note that our market capitalization as of July 31, 2016 indicated a significant gap between that market valuation and our overall 
total stockholders’ equity of $143.2 million. 

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets — Long-lived assets, including property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets, with 
defined lives, are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of such 
assets may not be recoverable. Determination of recoverability is based on an estimate of undiscounted future cash flows resulting 
from the use of the asset or its disposition. The measurement of an impairment loss for long-lived assets, where management expects 
to hold and use the asset, are based on the asset’s estimated fair value. Long-lived assets to be disposed of are reported at the lower of 
carrying amount or fair value. In conjunction with its decision to cease operations at its Bay Point, California facility, we recognized 
an impairment loss in fiscal year 2014 of $2.7 million on certain long-lived assets at that facility. See also the discussion of goodwill 
above. 

Asset Retirement Obligations — We measure asset retirement obligations based upon the applicable accounting guidance, using 
certain assumptions including estimates for decommissioning, dismantling and disposal costs. In the event that operational or 
regulatory issues vary from our estimates, we could incur additional significant charges to income and increases in cash expenditures 
related to those costs. Certain conditional asset retirement obligations related to facilities have not been recorded in the consolidated 
financial statements due to uncertainties surrounding the ultimate settlement date and estimate of fair value related to a legal 
obligation to perform an asset retirement activity. When a reasonable estimate of the ultimate settlement can be made, an asset 
retirement obligation is recorded and such amounts may be material to the consolidated financial statements in the period in which 
they are recorded. In conjunction with our decision to exit the Bay Point facility, in fiscal year 2014 we recognized $3.7 million in 
asset retirement obligations related to the estimated decommissioning, decontamination, and dismantling costs. See Note 13 to the 
consolidated financial statements included in this report. 

Income Taxes — We follow the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes in accordance with current accounting 
standards. Under this method, deferred income taxes are recorded based upon the differences between the financial reporting and tax 
bases of assets and liabilities and are measured using the enacted tax rates and laws in effect at the time the underlying assets or 
liabilities are recovered or settled. While most of our operations reflect net deferred tax liabilities as of July 31, 2016, we will continue 
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to evaluate the recoverability of our deferred tax assets in the future. Those assessments will include consideration of the historical and 
future levels of profitability and taxable income, as well as any limitations on the recoverability of those deferred tax assets. To the 
extent that circumstances change and we determine further amounts of deferred tax assets are not recoverable, we may record 
additional valuation allowances. 
 

When our earnings from foreign subsidiaries are considered to be indefinitely reinvested, no provision for United States income 
taxes is made for these earnings. If any of the subsidiaries have a distribution of earnings in the form of dividends or otherwise, we 
would be subject to both United States income taxes (subject to an adjustment for foreign tax credits) and withholding taxes payable to 
the various foreign countries.  

 
We record a valuation allowance in the reporting period when management believes that it is more likely than not that any 

deferred tax asset created will not be realized. Management will continue to evaluate the appropriateness of the valuation allowance in 
the future based upon our operating results. 

The calculation of our tax liabilities involves assessing the uncertainties regarding the application of complex tax regulations. 
We recognize liabilities for tax expenses based on our estimate of whether, and the extent to which, additional taxes will be due. If we 
determine that payment of these amounts is unnecessary, we reverse the liability and recognize a tax benefit when the determination is 
made. We record an additional charge in our provision for taxes in the period in which we determine that the recorded tax liability is 
less than we expect the ultimate assessment to be. 

Inventory— Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market. For certain products, cost is generally determined using the 
first-in, first-out (“FIFO”) method. For certain other products we utilize a weighted-average cost. We record inventory obsolescence as 
a reduction in inventory when considered unsellable. We review inventories periodically to ensure the valuation of these assets is 
recorded at the lower of cost or market and to record an obsolescence reserve when inventory is considered unsellable. During the 
fiscal years ended July 31, 2016 and 2015, we recognized inventory valuation loss of $173,000 and $941,000, respectively. As of 
July 31, 2016 and 2015, we had $654,000 and $481,000, respectively, of reserves for inventory obsolescence. 

Disclosure Regarding Forward Looking Statements 

This report includes “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as 
amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. These forward-looking statements include 
information about possible or assumed future results of our operations. All statements, other than statements of historical facts, 
included or incorporated by reference in this report that address activities, events or developments that we expect or anticipate may 
occur in the future, including such things as future capital expenditures, business strategy, competitive strengths, goals, growth of our 
business and operations, plans and references to future successes may be considered forward-looking statements. Also, when we use 
words such as “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “intend,” “plan,” “project,” “forecast,” “may,” “should,” “budget,” “goal,” “expect,” 
“probably” or similar expressions, we are making forward-looking statements. Many risks and uncertainties may impact the matters 
addressed in these forward-looking statements. Our forward-looking statements speak only as of the date made and we will not update 
forward-looking statements unless the securities laws require us to do so. 

Some of the key factors which could cause our future financial results and performance to vary from those expected include: 

x the loss or significant reduction in business from primary customers; 

x the loss of key suppliers; 

x the implementation of our strategy with respect to the expansion of operations in Singapore taking longer or being more 
costly than currently believed, and the failure to achieve all the planned benefits of that effort; 

x the implementation of a new enterprise resource planning system taking longer or being more costly than currently 
believed; 

x our ability to implement productivity improvements, cost reduction initiatives or facilities expansions; 

x market developments affecting, and other changes in, the demand for our products and the entry of new competitors or the 
introduction of new competing products; 

x volatility in oil and natural gas prices, which may impact customers’ activity levels and spending for our products and 
services and which could impact goodwill impairment testing for our industrial lubricants business; 

x increases in the price of energy, affecting our primary raw materials and active ingredients; 

x the timing of planned capital expenditures; 
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x our ability to identify, develop or acquire, and market additional product lines and businesses necessary to implement our 
business strategy and our ability to finance such acquisitions and development; 

x our ability to realize the anticipated benefits of business acquisitions and to successfully integrate previous or future 
business acquisitions; 

x the condition of the capital markets generally, which will be affected by interest rates, foreign currency fluctuations and 
general economic conditions; 

x cost and other effects of legal and administrative proceedings, settlements, investigations and claims, including 
environmental liabilities which may not be covered by indemnity or insurance; 

x the effects of weather, earthquakes, other natural disasters and terrorist attacks; 

x the impact of penta being banned or restricted as a persistent organic pollutant under the Stockholm Convention Treaty 
and the ability to obtain registration and re-registration of our products under applicable law; 

x exposure to movements in foreign currency exchange rates as a result of the geographic diversity of our operations; 

x the political and economic climate in the foreign or domestic jurisdictions in which we conduct business; and 

x other United States or foreign regulatory or legislative developments which affect the demand for our products generally 
or increase the environmental compliance cost for our products or impose liabilities on the manufacturers and distributors 
of such products. 

The information contained in this report, including the information set forth under the heading “Risk Factors”, identifies 
additional factors that could cause our results or performance to differ materially from those we express in our forward-looking 
statements. Although we believe that the assumptions underlying our forward-looking statements are reasonable, any of these 
assumptions and, therefore, the forward-looking statements based on these assumptions, could themselves prove to be inaccurate. In 
light of the significant uncertainties inherent in the forward-looking statements which are included in this report and the exhibits and 
other documents incorporated herein by reference, our inclusion of this information is not a representation by us or any other person 
that our objectives and plans will be achieved. 
 
 
ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK 

We are exposed to certain market risks in the ordinary course of our business, arising primarily from changes in interest rates 
and to a lesser extent foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations. Currently, we do not utilize derivative financial instruments or 
hedging transactions to manage that risk. 

Interest Rate Sensitivity 
As of July 31, 2016, we had no fixed rate debt.  

Our variable rate debt as of July 31, 2016 consisted of a revolving loan advanced under the Second Restated Credit Facility with 
an interest rate of 1.496% (1.0% plus LIBOR), maturing on October 9, 2019. On July 31, 2016, we had $35.8 million borrowed on the 
revolving loan under that facility. Currently, advances bear interest at LIBOR plus 1.0%. 

Based on the outstanding balance of our variable rate debt under the Second Restated Credit Facility at July 31, 2016, a 1.0% 
change in the interest rate as of July 31, 2016 would result in an additional charge of approximately $363,000 in annual interest 
expense. 

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Sensitivity 

We are exposed to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates from international operations in the electronic chemicals 
segment. Our international operations in Europe and Singapore use different functional currencies, including the Euro, Great Britain 
Pound and Singapore Dollar. The U.S. dollar is our consolidated reporting currency. Currency translation gains and losses result from 
the process of translating those operations from the functional currency into our reporting currency. Currency translation gains and 
losses have no impact on the consolidated statements of income and are recorded as accumulated other comprehensive income or loss 
within stockholders’ equity in our consolidated balance sheets. Assets and liabilities have been translated using exchange rates in 
effect at the balance sheet dates. Revenues and expenses have been translated using the average exchange rates during the period. 

We recognized a foreign currency translation loss of $2.6 million in fiscal year 2016, a loss of $10.2 million in fiscal year 2015, 
and a gain of $3.1 million in fiscal year 2014, each of which were included in accumulated other comprehensive income/(loss) in the 
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consolidated balance sheets. At July 31, 2016, the cumulative foreign currency translation loss reflected in accumulated other 
comprehensive loss was $12.0 million. 

Additionally we have limited exposure to certain transactions denominated in a currency other than the functional currency in 
our European and Singapore operations. Accordingly, we recognize exchange gains or losses in our consolidated statement of income 
from these transactions. Foreign currency exchange gains during fiscal year 2016 were $145,000. 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 

The Board of Directors and Stockholders 
KMG Chemicals, Inc.: 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of KMG Chemicals, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of 
July 31, 2016 and 2015, and the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, stockholders’ equity, and cash 
flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended July 31, 2016. In connection with our audits of the consolidated financial 
statements, we also have audited the related financial statement Schedule II. These consolidated financial statements and the related 
financial statement Schedule II are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on 
these consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule based on our audits. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of 
material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as 
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
KMG Chemicals, Inc. and subsidiaries as of July 31, 2016 and 2015, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of 
the years in the three-year period ended July 31, 2016, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also in our 
opinion, the related financial statement Schedule II, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as 
a whole, presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein. 

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), 
KMG Chemicals, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of July 31, 2016, based on criteria established in Internal 
Control—Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO), 
and our report dated October 14, 2016 expressed an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of KMG Chemicals, Inc.’s internal 
control over financial reporting. 
  
/s/ KPMG LLP 
Dallas, Texas 
October 14, 2016 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 

The Board of Directors and Stockholders 
KMG Chemicals, Inc.: 

We have audited KMG Chemicals, Inc.’s (“the Company”) internal control over financial reporting as of July 31, 2016, based on 
criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the 
Treadway Commission (COSO). KMG Chemicals, Inc.’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over 
financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the 
accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on 
KMG Chemicals, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over 
financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over 
financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness 
of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in 
the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of 
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the 
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the 
company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in 
accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding 
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect 
on the financial statements. 

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections 
of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in 
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 

In our opinion, KMG Chemicals, Inc. has maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of 
July 31, 2016, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of 
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. 

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the 
consolidated balance sheets of the Company as of July 31, 2016 and 2015 and the related consolidated statements of income, 
comprehensive income, stockholders’ equity, cash flows, and related financial statement Schedule II for each of the fiscal years in the 
three-year period then ended, and our report dated October 14, 2016 expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial 
statements. 
  
/s/ KPMG LLP 
Dallas, Texas 
October 14, 2016 
 
 



31 

KMG CHEMICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 

AS OF JULY 31, 2016 AND 2015 
(In thousands, except for share and per share amounts) 

  
    2016     2015   

Assets                 
Current assets                 

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 12,428     $ 7,517   
Accounts receivable                 

Trade, net of allowances of $210 at July 31, 2016 and $144 at July 31, 2015     33,324       36,887   
Other     5,572       3,668   

Inventories, net     37,401       42,082   
Current deferred tax assets   —       2,953   
Prepaid expenses and other     6,623       3,738   

Total current assets     95,348       96,845   
Property, plant and equipment, net     79,739       80,589   
Goodwill     22,228       22,408   
Intangible assets, net     33,906       36,560   
Restricted cash     1,000       1,000   
Other assets, net     4,807       4,957   
Total assets   $ 237,028     $ 242,359   
Liabilities & stockholders’ equity                 
Current liabilities                 

Accounts payable   $ 26,418     $ 35,980   
Accrued liabilities     11,252       9,602   
Employee incentive accrual     5,999       4,852   

Total current liabilities     43,669       50,434   
Long-term debt     35,800       53,000   
Deferred tax liabilities     9,948       13,075   
Other long-term liabilities     4,422       2,429   

Total liabilities     93,839       118,938   
Commitments and contingencies                 
Stockholders’ equity                 

Preferred stock, $.01 par value, 10,000,000 shares authorized, none issued   —     —   
Common stock, $.01 par value, 40,000,000 shares authorized, 11,877,282 shares 
issued and outstanding at July 31, 2016 and 11,690,439 shares issued and 
outstanding at July 31, 2015 

  
  119       117   

Additional paid-in capital     36,553       31,676   
Accumulated other comprehensive loss     (12,047 )     (9,667 ) 
Retained earnings     118,564       101,295   

Total stockholders’ equity     143,189       123,421   
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity   $ 237,028     $ 242,359   
 
  
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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KMG CHEMICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME 

FOR THE YEARS ENDED JULY 31, 2016, 2015 AND 2014 
(In thousands, except per share amounts) 

   
    2016     2015     2014   
Net sales   $ 297,978     $ 320,498     $ 353,406   
Cost of sales     182,470       211,021       249,907   

Gross profit     115,508       109,477       103,499   
Distribution expenses     36,986       48,523       50,251   
Selling, general and administrative expenses     49,192       37,461       38,421   
Restructuring charges     1,629       1,279       6,359   
Realignment charges     130       5,625       4,517   

Operating income     27,571       16,589       3,951   
Other income/(expense)                         

Interest expense, net     (799 )     (1,407 )     (2,854 ) 
Gain on purchase of NFC     1,826       —       —   
Gain on sale of creosote distribution business, net     —       5,448       —   
Other non-operating expense     —       (1,250 )     —   
Other, net     (368 )     (496 )     (831 ) 

Total other income/(expense), net     659       2,295       (3,685 ) 
Income before income taxes     28,230       18,884       266   

Provision for income taxes     (9,555 )     (6,746 )     (1,254 ) 
Net income/(loss)   $ 18,675     $ 12,138     $ (988 ) 
Earnings/(loss) per share                         

Basic   $ 1.59     $ 1.04     $ (0.09 ) 
Diluted   $ 1.57     $ 1.03     $ (0.09 ) 

Weighted average shares outstanding                         
Basic     11,719       11,673       11,615   
Diluted     11,926       11,779       11,615   

 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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KMG CHEMICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

FOR THE YEARS ENDED JULY 31, 2016, 2015 AND 2014 
(In thousands) 

  
  
    2016     2015     2014   
Net income/(loss)   $ 18,675     $ 12,138     $ (988 ) 
Other comprehensive (loss)/income                         

Foreign currency translation (loss)/gain     (2,620 )     (10,202 )     3,149   
Pension and other post-retirement benefit liability adjustments     240       (110 )     —   

Total other comprehensive (loss)/income     (2,380 )     (10,312 )     3,149   
Total comprehensive income   $ 16,295     $ 1,826     $ 2,161   
 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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KMG CHEMICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY 

FOR THE YEARS ENDED JULY 31, 2016, 2015 AND 2014 
(In thousands) 

 
  
                            Accumulated                   
    Common Stock     Additional     Other             Total   

    
Shares 
Issued     

Par 
Value     

Paid- 
In Capital     

Comprehensive 
Income (Loss)     

Retained 
Earnings     

Stockholders’ 
Equity   

BALANCE AT JULY 31, 2013     11,522     $ 115     $ 26,689     $ (2,504 )   $ 92,940     $ 117,240   
Cash dividends ($0.12 per share)                                     (1,393 )     (1,393 ) 
Stock options/warrants exercised     47                                       —   
Restricted stock issued     80       1       (1 )                     —   
Stock-based compensation expense                     2,231                       2,231   
Tax benefit from stock-based awards                     328                       328   
Other                     (361 )                     (361 ) 
Net loss                                     (988 )     (988 ) 
Gain on foreign currency translation                             3,149               3,149   

BALANCE AT JULY 31, 2014     11,649     $ 116     $ 28,886     $ 645     $ 90,559     $ 120,206   
Cash dividends ($0.12 per share)                                     (1,402 )     (1,402 ) 
Restricted stock issued     41       1                               1   
Stock-based compensation expense                     2,766                       2,766   
Tax benefit from stock-based awards                     24                       24   
Net income                                     12,138       12,138   
Loss on foreign currency translation                             (10,202 )             (10,202 ) 
Pension liability adjustment                             (110 )             (110 ) 

BALANCE AT JULY 31, 2015     11,690     $ 117     $ 31,676     $ (9,667 )   $ 101,295     $ 123,421   
Cash dividends ($0.12 per share)                                     (1,406 )     (1,406 ) 
Restricted stock issued     187       2       (2 )                     —   
Stock-based compensation expense                     4,836                       4,836   
Tax benefit from stock-based awards                     43                       43   
Net income                                     18,675       18,675   
Loss on foreign currency translation                             (2,620 )             (2,620 ) 
Pension liability adjustment                             240               240   

BALANCE AT JULY 31, 2016     11,877     $ 119     $ 36,553     $ (12,047 )   $ 118,564     $ 143,189   
 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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KMG CHEMICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

FOR THE YEARS ENDED JULY 31, 2016, 2015 AND 2014 
(In thousands) 

    2016     2015     2014   
Cash flows from operating activities                         

Net income /(loss)   $ 18,675     $ 12,138     $ (988 ) 
Adjustments to reconcile net income/(loss) to net cash provided by 
operating activities                         

Depreciation and amortization     14,534       13,531       14,117   
Depreciation related to restructuring and realignment     295       5,640       4,210   
Non-cash Impairment charges     —       —       2,741   
Amortization of loan costs included in interest expense     167       153       60   
Stock-based compensation expense     4,836       2,766       2,231   
Allowance for excess and obsolete inventory     173       941       634   
Gain on sale of creosote business     —       (5,448 )     —   
Gain on NFC acquisition     (1,826 )                 
Other     81       —       100   
Deferred income tax expense/(benefit)     258       (3,532 )     (2,227 ) 
Tax benefit from stock-based awards     (43 )     23       (328 ) 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects of acquisition                         

Accounts receivable — trade     5,154       1,265       2,137   
Accounts receivable — other     (1,889 )     (1,884 )     746   
Inventories     4,348       (740 )     7,861   
Other current and non-current assets     1,221       (633 )     822   
Accounts payable     (9,226 )     1,234       398   
Accrued liabilities and other     4,276       (7,886 )     7,844   

Net cash provided by operating activities     41,034       17,568       40,358   
Cash flows from investing activities                         

Additions to property, plant and equipment     (14,358 )     (13,821 )     (9,497 ) 
NFC acquisition, net of cash acquired     (2,679 )                 
Disposals of property, plant and equipment     —       2,572       74   
Acquisition of Ultra Pure Chemicals, net of cash acquired     —       —       149   
Acquisition of industrial lubricants business     —       (21,938 )     —   
Proceeds from sale of creosote business     —       14,899       —   

Net cash used in investing activities     (17,037 )     (18,288 )     (9,274 ) 
Cash flows from financing activities                         

Net borrowings/(payments) under revolving loan facility     —       (40,000 )     (25,000 ) 
Deferred financing costs     —       (666 )     —   
Proceeds from borrowings under credit facility     2,800       59,100       —   
Net payments under credit facility     (20,000 )     (6,100 )     —   
Principal payments on borrowings on term loan     —       (20,000 )     —   
Tax benefit from stock-based awards     43       (23 )     328   
Payment of dividends     (1,406 )     (1,402 )     (1,393 ) 

Net cash used in financing activities     (18,563 )     (9,091 )     (26,065 ) 
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash     (523 )     (1,924 )     284   
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents     4,911       (11,735 )     5,303   
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of year     7,517       19,252       13,949   
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year   $ 12,428     $ 7,517     $ 19,252   
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information                         

Cash paid for interest   $ 621     $ 1,321     $ 2,562   
Cash paid for income taxes   $ 9,744     $ 12,182     $ 865   

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing activities                         
Purchase of property, plant and equipment through accounts payable   $ 373     $ 882     $ 1,135   
Accrued liabilities under industrial lubricants business acquisition   $ —     $ 1,798     $ —   

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

General — KMG Chemicals, Inc. (the “Company”) is involved principally in the manufacture, formulation and distribution of 
specialty chemicals in carefully focused markets through its three wholly-owned subsidiaries, KMG Electronic Chemicals, Inc. 
(“KMG EC”), KMG Val-Tex, LLC (“Val-Tex”) and KMG-Bernuth, Inc. (“KMG Bernuth”).  

In its electronic chemicals business, the Company sells high purity and ultra purity wet process chemicals primarily to the 
semiconductor industry. In its industrial lubricants business, the Company sells industrial lubricants and sealants, primarily to the oil 
and gas storage, pipeline and gas distribution markets, as well as related products, such as lubrication equipment and fittings. In its 
wood treating chemicals business, the Company sells industrial wood treating chemicals based on pentachlorophenol (“penta”). The 
Company operates its electronic chemicals business through KMG EC in North America and through KMG Italia, S.r.l. (“KMG 
Italia”) and KMG Electronic Chemicals Holdings S.a.r.l (“KMG Lux”) (and its subsidiaries) in Europe and Asia and has facilities in 
the United States, the United Kingdom, France, Italy and Singapore. The Company operates its industrial lubricants business through 
Val-Tex, a Texas limited liability company, and has one facility in the United States. In the wood treating business, the Company 
manufactures penta at its plant in Matamoros, Mexico through KMG de Mexico (“KMEX”), a Mexican corporation which is a 
wholly-owned subsidiary of KMG Bernuth. The Company sells its wood treating chemicals in the United States, Mexico and Canada. 
The Company has two reportable segments, electronic chemicals and other chemicals. The other chemicals segment includes the 
Company’s industrial lubricants business and its wood treating chemicals business. See Note 12. 

Principles of Consolidation — The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of KMG Chemicals, Inc. and its 
subsidiaries. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. 

Use of Estimates — The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America (“GAAP”) requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of 
assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts 
of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from these estimates. 

Reclassifications — Certain reclassifications of prior year amounts have been made to conform to current year presentation. 
These reclassifications had no impact on net income (loss) or total stockholders’ equity as previously reported. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents — The Company considers all investments with original maturities of three months or less when 
purchased to be cash equivalents. 

Restricted Cash — Restricted cash includes cash balances which are legally or contractually restricted to use. The Company’s 
restricted cash as of July 31, 2016 and 2015 includes proceeds that were placed in escrow in connection with the sale of the animal 
health business. 

Fair Value of Financial Instruments — The carrying value of financial instruments, including cash and cash equivalents, 
accounts receivable, and accounts payable approximate fair value because of the relatively short maturity of these instruments. The 
fair value of the Company’s debt at July 31, 2016 and 2015 approximated its carrying value since the debt obligations bear interest at a 
rate consistent with market rates. 

Accounts Receivable — The Company’s trade accounts receivables are primarily from sales of products worldwide. The 
Company extends credit based on an evaluation of the customer’s financial condition, generally without requiring collateral. Exposure 
to losses on receivables is dependent on each customer’s financial condition. 

The Company records an allowance for doubtful accounts to reduce accounts receivable when the Company believes an account 
may not be collected. A provision for bad debt expense is recorded to selling, general and administrative expenses. The amount of bad 
debt expense recorded each period and the resulting adequacy of the allowance at the end of each period are determined using a 
customer-by-customer analyses of accounts receivable balances each period and the Company’s assessment of future bad debt 
exposure. Historically, write offs of accounts receivable balances have been insignificant. The allowance was $210,000 and $144,000 
at July 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively. 

Inventories — Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market. For certain products, cost is generally determined using the 
first-in, first-out (“FIFO”) method. For certain other products the Company utilizes a weighted-average cost. The Company records a 
reserve for inventory obsolescence as a reduction in its inventory when considered not salable. 

Property, Plant, and Equipment — Property, plant, and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
amortization. Major renewals and betterments are capitalized. Repairs and maintenance costs are expensed as incurred. 
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Depreciation for equipment commences once placed in service, and depreciation for buildings and leasehold improvements 
commences once they are ready for their intended use. Depreciable life is determined through economic analysis. Depreciation for 
financial statement purposes is provided on the straight-line method. 

The estimated useful lives of classes of assets are as follows: 
  

Asset Class   Life (Years) 
Building   15 to 30 
Plant   10 to 18 
Equipment   3 to 15 
Leasehold improvements   Remaining life of the lease 

  
Depreciation expense was approximately $12.9 million, $17.5 million and $16.5 million (including accelerated depreciation of 

$0.3 million, $5.6 million and $4.2 million) in fiscal years 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively. See Notes 4 and 14. 

Intangible Assets — Identifiable intangible assets with a defined life are amortized using a straight-line or accelerated method 
over the useful lives of the assets. Identifiable intangible assets of an indefinite life are not amortized. These assets are required to be 
tested for impairment at least annually. If this review indicates that impairment has occurred, the carrying value of the intangible 
assets will be adjusted to fair value. Based on an assessment of qualitative factors, in accordance with GAAP, it was determined that 
there were no events or circumstances that would lead the Company to a determination that is more likely than not that the fair value 
of the applicable assets was less than its carrying value as of July 31, 2016 and 2015. The Company therefore concluded that its 
indefinite lived intangible assets were not impaired as of July 31, 2016 and 2015. It is the Company’s policy to expense costs as 
incurred in connection with the renewal or extension of its intangible assets. 

Goodwill — Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price paid for acquired businesses over the allocated fair value of 
the related net assets after impairments, if applicable.  

The Company evaluates goodwill for impairment annually, and when an event occurs or circumstances change to suggest that 
the carrying amount may not be recoverable. The Company has goodwill of $14.5 million and $7.7 million associated with its other 
chemicals and electronic chemicals segments, respectively, as of July 31, 2016. As part of the goodwill impairment analysis, current 
accounting standards give companies the option to first perform a qualitative assessment to determine whether it is more likely than 
not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, including goodwill. If it is determined that it is more likely 
than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is greater than its carrying amount, then performing the currently prescribed two-step 
impairment test is unnecessary. In developing a qualitative assessment to meet the “more-likely-than-not” threshold, each reporting 
unit with goodwill on its balance sheet is assessed separately, and different relevant events and circumstances are evaluated for each 
unit. If it is determined that it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, then the 
prescribed two-step impairment test is performed. Current accounting standards also give us the option to bypass the qualitative 
assessment for any reporting unit in any period, and proceed directly to performing the first step of the two-step goodwill impairment 
test. The Company conducts its annual impairment test as of July of each year. In 2016, 2015 and 2014, the Company performed a 
qualitative assessment that indicated the fair value of each of its reporting units is greater than its carrying amount. In conjunction with 
the sale of the creosote business on January 16, 2015, the Company allocated goodwill of approximately $662,000 that was previously 
a part of the wood treating chemicals reporting unit to the assets disposed of in the sale. 

Asset retirement obligation — The Company measures asset retirement obligations based upon the applicable accounting 
guidance, using certain assumptions including estimates for decommissioning, dismantling and disposal costs. In the event that 
operational or regulatory issues vary from management’s estimates, the Company could incur additional significant charges to income 
and increases in cash expenditures related to those costs. Certain conditional asset retirement obligations related to facilities have not 
been recorded in the consolidated financial statements due to uncertainties surrounding the ultimate settlement date and estimate of 
fair value related to a legal obligation to perform an asset retirement activity. When a reasonable estimate of the ultimate settlement 
can be made, an asset retirement obligation is recorded and such amounts may be material to the consolidated financial statements in 
the period in which they are recorded. In conjunction with its decision to exit the Bay Point facility, in fiscal year 2014 the Company 
recognized $3.7 million in asset retirement obligations related to the decommissioning, decontamination, and dismantling costs for 
which it is obligated under its manufacturing agreement. See Note 13. 

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets — Long-lived assets, including property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets with 
defined lives, are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of such 
assets may not be recoverable. The determination of recoverability is based on an estimate of undiscounted future cash flows resulting 
from the use of the asset and its disposition. The measurement of an impairment loss for long-lived assets, where management expects 
to hold and use the asset, are based on the asset’s estimated fair value. Long-lived assets to be disposed of are reported at the lower of 
carrying amount or fair value. The Company recognized an impairment loss in fiscal year 2014 of $2.7 million on certain long-lived 



38 

assets at the Bay Point, California facility where the Company determined it would no longer manufacture products. There were no 
impairment charges in fiscal years 2016 or 2015. See note 13. 

Revenue Recognition — The Company’s chemical products are sold in the open market and revenue is recognized when risk of 
loss and title to the products transfers to customers, the price to the buyer is fixed or determinable and recoverability is reasonably 
assured. In general, risk of loss transfers upon shipment to customers. For consignment sales, the revenues are recognized when the 
customer uses the product for their intended use. The Company also recognizes service revenue in connection with technical support 
services and chemicals delivery and handling at customer facilities. Revenue is recognized as those services are provided. To the 
extent that customers are eligible for rebates, they are estimated and recognized as the sales are made. 

Cost of Sales — Cost of sales includes inbound freight charges, purchasing and receiving costs, inspection costs and internal 
transfer costs. In the case of products manufactured by the Company, direct and indirect manufacturing costs and associated plant 
administrative expenses are included as well as laid-in cost of raw materials consumed in the manufacturing process. 

Distribution Expenses — These expenses include outbound freight, depreciation, storage and handling expenses and other 
miscellaneous costs (including depreciation and amortization) associated with product storage, handling and distribution. 

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses — These expenses include selling expenses, corporate headquarters’ expenses, 
depreciation, amortization of intangible assets and environmental regulatory support expenses. 

Shipping and Handling Costs — Shipping and handling costs are included in cost of sales and distribution expenses. Inbound 
freight charges and internal transfer costs are included in cost of sales. Product storage and handling costs and the cost of distributing 
products to the Company’s customers are included in distribution expenses. 

Income Taxes — The Company follows the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes in accordance with 
current accounting standards. Under this method, deferred income taxes are recorded based upon the differences between the financial 
reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities and are measured using the enacted tax rates and laws in effect at the time the 
underlying assets or liabilities are recovered or settled. 
 

When the Company's earnings from foreign subsidiaries are considered to be indefinitely reinvested, no provision for United 
States income taxes is made for these earnings. If any of the subsidiaries have a distribution of earnings in the form of dividends or 
otherwise, the Company would be subject to both United States income taxes (subject to an adjustment for foreign tax credits) and 
withholding taxes payable to the various foreign countries.  

 
The Company records a valuation allowance in the reporting period when management believes that it is more likely than not 

that any deferred tax asset created will not be realized. Management will continue to evaluate the appropriateness of the valuation 
allowance in the future based upon the operating results of the Company. 
 

The calculation of the Company’s tax assets and liabilities involves assessing the uncertainties regarding the application of 
complex tax regulations. The Company recognizes liabilities for tax expenses based on its estimate of whether, and the extent to 
which, additional taxes will be due. If the Company determines that payment of these amounts is unnecessary, the Company reverses 
the liability and recognizes a tax benefit during the period in which it determines that the liability is no longer necessary. The 
Company records an additional charge in its provision for taxes when the determination is made. See Note 5. 

Earnings Per Share — Basic earnings per common share amounts are calculated using the average number of common shares 
outstanding during each period. Diluted earnings per share assumes the issuance of restricted stock under time-based and 
performance-based awards, and the exercise of stock options having exercise prices less than the average market price during the 
applicable period, using the treasury stock method. Time-based and performance-based awards have no liquidation or dividend rights 
and are thus are not considered participating securities.  

Foreign Currency Translation — The functional currency of the Company’s Mexico operations is the U.S. Dollar. As a result, 
monetary assets and liabilities for KMEX are re-measured to U.S. dollars at current rates at the balance sheet dates, income statement 
items are re-measured at the average monthly exchange rates for the dates those items were recognized, and certain assets (including 
plant and production equipment) are re-measured at historical exchange rates. Foreign currency transaction gains and losses are 
included in the statement of operations as incurred along with gains and losses from currency re-measurement. These gains and losses 
were nominal in fiscal years 2016, 2015 and 2014. 

The Company’s international operations in the electronic chemicals business are in Europe and Singapore, and use local 
currencies as the functional currency, including the GB Pound, Euro and Singapore Dollar. The translation adjustment resulting from 
currency translation of the local currency into the reporting currency (U.S. Dollar) is included as a separate component of 
stockholders’ equity. The assets and liabilities have been translated from local currencies into U.S. Dollars using exchange rates in 
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effect at the balance sheet dates. Results of operations have been translated using the average exchange rates during the period. 
Foreign currency translation resulted in a translation adjustment gains/(losses) of $(2.6) million, $(10.2) million and $3.1 million in 
fiscal years 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively, each of which are included in accumulated other comprehensive income/(loss) in the 
consolidated balance sheets. 

Stock-Based Compensation — The Company’s stock-based compensation expense is based on the fair value of the award 
measured on the date of grant. For stock option awards, the grant date fair value is measured using a Black-Scholes option valuation 
model. For stock awards, the Company’s stock price on the date of the grant is used to measure the grant date fair value. For awards of 
stock which are based on a fixed monetary value the grant date fair value is based on the monetary value. Stock-based compensation 
costs are recognized as an expense over the requisite service period of the award using the straight-line method. 

Recent Accounting Standards 

The Company has considered all recently issued accounting standards updates and SEC rules and interpretive releases. 

In August 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 
No. 2016-15, “Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230), Classification of Certain Cash Receipts and Cash Payments” (“ASU 2016-15”). 
ASU 2016-15 is intended to address how certain cash receipts and cash payments are presented and classified in the statement of cash 
flows. This update addresses eight specific cash flow issues with the objective of reducing the existing diversity in practice. The 
amendments are effective for public business entities for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017, and interim periods within 
those fiscal years. The Company is considering early adoption of the standard, and will evaluate the cash flow impacts of the 
specifically addressed transactions within the amendment as they occur. 

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-13, "Financial Instruments—Credit Losses (Topic 326), Measurement of Credit 
Losses on Financial Instruments." ASU 2016-13 changes the impairment model for most financial assets and certain other 
instruments, including trade and other receivables, held-to-maturity debt securities and loans, and requires entities to use a new 
forward-looking expected loss model that will result in the earlier recognition of allowance for losses. This update is effective for 
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019, including interim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted for a 
fiscal year beginning after December 15, 2018, including interim periods within that fiscal year. Entities will apply the standard's 
provisions as a cumulative-effect adjustment to retained earnings as of the beginning of the first reporting period in which the 
guidance is adopted. The Company is evaluating the new guidance and does not believe this standard will have a material impact on 
its consolidated financial statements. 

In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-09, “Compensation—Stock Compensation (Topic 718), Improvements to 
Employee Share-based Payment Accounting.” ASU 2016-09 simplifies several aspects of the accounting for employee share-based 
payment transactions for both public and nonpublic entities, including the accounting for income taxes, forfeitures, and statutory tax 
withholding requirements, as well as classification in the statement of cash flows. ASU 2016-09 is effective for annual periods 
beginning after December 15, 2017, and interim periods within annual periods beginning after December 15, 2018. Early adoption is 
permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the standard and the impact on its consolidated financial statements and footnote 
disclosures. 

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, “Leases (Topic 842),” which is intended to increase transparency and 
comparability of accounting for lease transactions. The ASU will require all leases with lease terms exceeding one year to be 
recognized on the balance sheet as lease assets and lease liabilities and will require both quantitative and qualitative disclosures 
regarding key information about leasing arrangements. Lessor accounting is largely unchanged. The guidance is effective beginning 
January 1, 2019 with an option to early adopt. The Company is evaluating whether to early adopt and the effect that ASU 2016-02 will 
have on its consolidated financial statements, and footnote disclosures. 

In November 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-17, “Income Taxes (Topic 740), Balance Sheet Classification of Deferred 
Taxes,” which requires deferred tax liabilities and assets to be classified as noncurrent in the Balance Sheet. The standard will be 
effective for financial statements issued for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2016, and interim periods within those 
annual periods. Early adoption is permitted for financial statements that have not been previously issued. The ASU may be applied 
either prospectively to all deferred tax liabilities and assets or retrospectively to all periods presented. The Company adopted this ASU 
on a prospective basis in the second quarter of fiscal year 2016. This change in accounting principle does not have an impact on the 
Company’s results of operations, cash flow or stockholders’ equity. 

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”, which requires entities to 
recognize revenue in a way that depicts the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the 
consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled to in exchange for those goods or services. The new guidance also requires 
additional disclosure about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from customer contracts, 
including significant judgments and changes in judgments and assets recognized from costs incurred to obtain or fulfill a contract. In 
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August 2015, the FASB voted to delay the effective date of ASU 2014-09 by one year to annual reporting periods beginning after 
December 15, 2017, including interim reporting periods within that reporting period. Earlier application is permitted only as of annual 
reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2016, including interim reporting periods within that reporting period. Adoption can 
occur using one of two prescribed transition methods. In March and April 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-08, “Revenue from 
Contracts with Customers: Principal versus Agent Considerations (Reporting Revenue Gross versus Net)” and ASU 2016-10, 
“Revenue from Contracts with Customers: Identifying Performance Obligations and Licensing” which provide supplemental adoption 
guidance and clarification to ASC 2014-09. ASU 2016-08 and ASU 2016-10 must be adopted concurrently with the adoption of ASU 
2014-09. The Company is currently evaluating the impact that these new standards will have on its consolidated financial statements 
and footnote disclosures. 
 
 
 2. ACQUISITIONS 

On April 4, 2016, the Company completed the acquisition of Nagase Finechem Singapore (Pte) Ltd. (“NFC”), a 
Singapore-based manufacturer of electronic chemicals, for a cash purchase price of $2.9 million, including $1.1 million of estimated 
net working capital. NFC’s five-acre Singapore site comprises a manufacturing and packaging facility, warehouse, laboratory and 
cleanroom. The acquired company manufactures wet process chemicals, including solvents, acids and custom blends for the liquid 
crystal display, electronics and semiconductor markets, and provides recycling and refining services for certain customers. The 
Company completed the acquisition by borrowing $2.8 million on the revolving loan under its revolving credit facility. See Note 7 for 
further discussion of the Company’s revolving credit facility. The Company expensed transaction and acquisition-related costs of 
approximately $0.2 million in the fiscal quarter ended April 30, 2016, which is included in selling, general and administrative 
expenses on the Company’s consolidated statement of income. 

The following table summarizes the acquired assets and assumed liabilities and the preliminary acquisition accounting for the 
fair value of the assets and liabilities recognized in the consolidated balance sheets at July 31, 2016 (in thousands): 

Cash   $ 228   
Accounts receivable     1,862   
Other assets     101   
Property, plant and equipment, net     3,242   
Intangible assets         

Licensing agreement     73   
Toll manufacturing agreement     255   

Total assets acquired   $ 5,761   
Total current liabilities assumed     1,028   
Fair value of net assets acquired   $ 4,733   

The preliminary aggregate fair value of the working capital (assets and liabilities), property, plant and equipment and intangible 
assets acquired were determined by management to exceed the consideration paid for the acquisition, resulting in a bargain purchase 
gain under GAAP. In reaching that conclusion, management noted that there were no other liabilities being assumed in connection 
with the acquisition, including no environmental liabilities. Management believes the seller had determined to perform the transaction 
as part of an overall repositioning of its business. Based on these considerations, the Company recorded a gain of $1.8 million in 
connection with the bargain purchase during the year ended July 31, 2016. Any subsequent adjustments to the preliminary purchase 
price allocation will result in a corresponding change in the amount of the bargain purchase gain recorded in earnings. The pro forma 
impact on consolidated results is immaterial for the year ended July 31, 2016. 

On May 1, 2015, the Company completed the acquisition of Valves Incorporated of Texas, a privately held Texas corporation, 
pursuant to the terms of a previously announced Agreement and Plan of Merger. That acquired company manufactures and distributes 
industrial sealants and lubricants, primarily to the oil and gas storage, pipeline and gas distribution markets, as well as related 
products, such as lubrication equipment and fittings. In addition to the lubricants business, it also owned 606,875 shares of the 
Company’s common stock. Fred C. Leonard III, a director of the Company, was the majority shareholder, president and chief 
executive officer of Valves Incorporated of Texas.  

The aggregate merger consideration paid to the former shareholders of Valves Incorporated of Texas was 606,875 shares of the 
Company’s common stock plus $23.7 million in cash. The 606,875 shares of the Company previously owned by Valves Incorporated 
of Texas were cancelled as of the time of the merger, and no additional net shares of the Company were issued as a result of the 
merger. Of the $23.7 million cash consideration, $1.0 million of the purchase price was retained as a holdback to satisfy post-closing 
inventory adjustments and potential indemnity claims. The $500,000 of the holdback related to inventory adjustments was released in 
August 2015. The remaining $500,000 of the holdback for potential indemnity claims will be released eighteen months after the 
closing. The Company completed the acquisition by borrowing $23.5 million on the revolving loan under its revolving credit facility. 
At the closing of the merger, Valves Incorporated of Texas merged into Val-Tex. 
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The Company accounted for the acquisition under the acquisition method of accounting in accordance with GAAP. The 
Company expensed transaction and acquisition-related costs of approximately $0.5 million in fiscal year 2015, which is included in 
selling, general and administrative expenses on the Company’s consolidated statement of income. 

The following table summarizes acquired assets and liabilities and the acquisition accounting for the fair value of the assets and 
liability recognized in the consolidated balance sheets at the acquisition date of the industrial lubricants and sealants business (in 
thousands): 

 
Inventory   $ 1,900   
Other current assets     15   
Property, plant and equipment     482   
Intangible assets:         
     Customer relationships     10,291   
     Trade name and trademark     2,885   
     Proprietary manufacturing process     2,808   
     Other     152   
Total intangible assets     16,136   
Deferred tax liability - noncurrent     (6,213 ) 
Net assets acquired     12,320   
Goodwill     11,387   
Total purchase consideration   $ 23,707   

The pro forma impact on consolidated results had the acquisition of Valves Incorporated of Texas occurred as of the beginning 
of fiscal year 2015 is immaterial. 
 
 
3. INVENTORIES 

Inventories are summarized as follows at July 31, 2016 and 2015 (in thousands): 
  

    2016     2015   
Raw materials and supplies   $ 7,429     $ 8,723   
Work in process     1,195       780   
Supplies     968       525   
Finished products     28,463       32,535   
Less reserve for inventory obsolescence     (654 )     (481 ) 
Inventories, net   $ 37,401     $ 42,082   
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4. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

Property, plant, and equipment and related accumulated depreciation and amortization are summarized as follows at 
July 31, 2016 and 2015 (in thousands): 
  
  

    2016     2015   
Land   $ 9,765     $ 13,257   
Buildings and improvements     39,974       38,036   
Equipment     88,470       84,273   
Leasehold improvements     2,460       193   
      140,669       135,759   
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization     (65,958 )     (61,936 ) 
      74,711       73,823   
Construction-in-progress     5,028       6,766   

Property, plant and equipment, net(1)   $ 79,739     $ 80,589   
  

(1) In fiscal year 2016, as part of the Company’s ongoing review of its Milan production facilities, the Company determined that 
certain other facilities had excess capacity sufficient to absorb the manufacturing operations of one of its Milan plants. As a 
result, the Company committed to sell properties with a total estimated fair value, less costs to sell, of approximately $4.3 
million at July 31, 2016. Assets held for sale are included in Prepaid expenses and other in Current assets. The Company expects 
the sale of the properties to be completed during fiscal year 2017. The fair value measurements were based on recent valuation 
appraisals.  

 
 
5. INCOME TAXES 

The Company is subject to United States federal, state and foreign taxes on its operations. The geographical sources of income 
before income taxes for each of the three years ended July 31 are as follows (in thousands): 

 
    2016     2015     2014   
United States   $ 28,820     $ 20,442     $ 1,923   
Foreign     (590 )     (1,558 )     (1,657 ) 
Income before income taxes   $ 28,230     $ 18,884     $ 266   

  
  

The components of income tax expense/(benefit) for the years ended July 31 consisted of the following (in thousands): 
  

    2016     2015     2014   
Current:                         

Federal   $ 7,900     $ 9,176     $ 2,582   
Foreign     166       (127 )     1,071   
State     1,275       1,214       603   

      9,341       10,263       4,256   
Deferred:                         

Federal     358       (3,660 )     (1,978 ) 
Foreign     (261 )     293       (897 ) 
State     117       (150 )     (127 ) 

      214       (3,517 )     (3,002 ) 
Total   $ 9,555     $ 6,746     $ 1,254   
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Deferred income taxes are provided on all temporary differences between financial and taxable income. The following table 
presents the components of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities at July 31, 2016 and 2015 (in thousands): 

 
    2016     2015   
Deferred tax assets:                 
Current deferred tax assets:                 

Bad debt expense   $ —     $ 238   
Inventory     —       675   
Accrued liabilities     —       227   
Employee benefits     —       2,025   
Other     —       972   
Less valuation allowance     —       (34 ) 

Total current deferred tax assets   $ —     $ 4,103   
Non-current deferred tax assets                 

Inventory   $ 571     $ —   
Net operating loss     2,061       1,629   
Employee benefits     2,059       —   
Deferred compensation     3,171       1,490   
Accrued liabilities     498       —   
Other     1,062       295   
Less valuation allowance     (2,895 )     (1,982 ) 

Total non-current deferred tax assets   $ 6,527     $ 1,432   
Deferred tax liabilities:                 
Current deferred tax liabilities:                 

Prepaid assets   $ —     $ (341 ) 
Total current deferred tax liabilities:   $ —     $ (341 ) 
Non-current deferred tax liabilities:                 

Difference in amortization basis of intangibles   $ (11,115 )   $ (11,131 ) 
Difference in depreciable basis of property     (4,928 )     (4,182 ) 
Other     (432 )     —   

Total non-current deferred tax liabilities     (16,475 )     (15,313 ) 
Net non-current deferred tax liability   $ (9,948 )   $ (10,119 ) 

  
As of July 31, 2016, the Company has $7.9 million of foreign net operating loss carry forwards, which do not expire. 

The Company records provisions for uncertain tax provisions in accordance with GAAP, which prescribes the minimum 
recognition threshold that a tax position is required to meet before being recognized in the financial statements. The Company 
recognizes interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions in income tax expense. The statute of limitations remains open for 
the fiscal year ended July 31, 2013 and forward for United States federal income taxes and fiscal year ended July 31, 2011 and 
forward for state tax jurisdictions. 

The Company’s subsidiary in Italy is contesting income tax assessments for the three year period ended July 31, 2011 and a 
registration tax assessment for the December 2007 purchase of the electronic chemicals business in Italy. Adjustments were proposed 
by the taxing authorities that would result in approximately $2.8 million (including interest and penalties) of additional liability, if all 
the adjustments are sustained. In October 2014, the Italian tax court ruled in favor of the Company’s positions related to the income 
tax assessments, but the government appealed the ruling. In October 2016, however, the Italian tax court confirmed the earlier ruling 
in favor of the Company. That decision is subject to further appeal by the government. Even in the event of an unfavorable result on 
appeal, the Company does not expect all of this amount to result in cash payments, as the Company would be able to utilize available 
net operating losses. The Company intends to vigorously defend its tax position. The ultimate outcome of this examination is subject 
to uncertainty, and the Company had a liability for its uncertain tax position in Italy as of July 31, 2016 and 2015 of $98,000 and 
$57,000, respectively, which includes penalties and interest offset by net operating losses. See Note 8. 

The Company does not intend for previously unremitted foreign earnings associated with its Mexico operations to be 
permanently reinvested outside the United States. Except for Mexico, the Company maintains its foreign earnings from the remaining 
foreign subsidiaries to be permanently reinvested. 
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The following table accounts for the differences between the actual tax provision, and the amounts obtained by applying the 
applicable statutory United States federal income tax rate of 35% to income from continuing operations before income taxes for each 
of the years ended July 31, 2016, 2015, and 2014, respectively (in thousands): 
  

    2016     2015     2014   
Income taxes at the federal statutory rate   $ 9,881     $ 6,610     $ 93   
Effect of foreign operations     485       182       329   
Change in valuation allowance     311       648       1,725   
Adjustments to foreign operations     —       1,148       (916 ) 
Effects of foreign currency fluctuations     (330 )     (953 )     —   
State income taxes, net of federal income tax effect     969       639       269   
Production deduction and tax credits     (1,473 )     (1,182 )     —   
Acquisition related cost     85       125       —   
Other     (373 )     (471 )     (246 ) 
Total   $ 9,555     $ 6,746     $ 1,254   

  
 
Uncertain Tax Positions 

The Company accounts for uncertain tax positions in accordance with FASB ASC 740, which prescribes the minimum 
recognition threshold a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return is required to meet before being recognized in the 
financial statements. 

The following table summarizes the activity related to our gross unrecognized tax benefits (in thousands): 

 
Balance at July 31, 2015   $ 718   
Increases related to prior years positions     249   
Increases related to current year positions     287   
Balance at July 31, 2016   $ 1,254   

The Company does not anticipate any significant changes to the unrecognized tax benefits within the next twelve months. The 
Company recognizes interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions within the provision for income taxes in the consolidated 
statements of income. The Company recognized $69,000 in penalties and interest during the year ended July 31, 2016 related to 
unrecognized tax benefits. 
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6. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

Intangible assets are summarized as follows (in thousands): 
  

    
Number of 

Years                                   
    Weighted             July 31, 2016   

    

Average 
Amortization 

Period     
Original 

Cost     
Accumulated 
Amortization     

Foreign 
Currency 

Translation     
Carrying 
Amount   

Intangible assets subject to amortization 
(range of useful life):                                         
Electronic chemicals-related contracts (5-8 years)     6.6     $ 2,204     $ (1,104 )   $ (117 )   $ 983   
Electronic chemicals-related trademarks 
   and patents (10-15 years)     12.0       117       (87 )     —       30   
Electronic chemicals-value of product 
   qualifications (5-15 years)     14.1       14,100       (4,616 )     (831 )     8,653   
Other chemicals-customer relationships (15 years)     15.0       10,291       (858 )     —       9,433   
Other chemicals-other related contracts (5 years)     5.0       152       (38 )     —       114   
Electronic chemicals - Tolling/License Agreements 
   (1-3 years)     1.4       328       (93 )     —       235   

Total intangible assets subject to amortization     13.6     $ 27,192     $ (6,796 )   $ (948 )   $ 19,448   
Intangible assets not subject to amortization:                                         
Other chemicals-penta product registrations                                     8,765   
Other chemicals-related trade name and trademark                                     2,885   
Other chemicals-proprietary manufacturing process                                     2,808   

Total intangible assets not subject to 
   amortization                                     14,458   
Total intangible assets, net                                   $ 33,906   

  

    
Number of 

Years                                   
    Weighted             July 31, 2015   

    

Average 
Amortization 

Period     
Original 

Cost     
Accumulated 
Amortization     

Foreign 
Currency 

Translation     
Carrying 
Amount   

Intangible assets subject to amortization 
(range of useful life):                                         
Electronic chemicals-related contracts (5-8 years)     6.6     $ 2,204     $ (839 )   $ (87 )   $ 1,278   
Electronic chemicals-related trademarks 
   and patents (10-15 years)     12.0       117       (77 )     —       40   
Electronic chemicals-value of product 
   qualifications (5-15 years)     14.1       14,100       (3,649 )     70       10,521   
Other chemicals-customer relationships (15 years)     15.0       10,291       (172 )     —       10,119   
Other chemicals-other related contracts (5 years)     5.0       152       (8 )     —       144   

Total intangible assets subject to amortization     13.8     $ 26,864     $ (4,745 )   $ (17 )   $ 22,102   
Intangible assets not subject to amortization:                                         
Other chemicals-penta product registrations                                     8,765   
Other chemicals-related trade name and trademark                                     2,885   
Other chemicals-proprietary manufacturing process                                     2,808   

Total intangible assets not subject to 
   amortization                                     14,458   
Total intangible assets, net                                   $ 36,560   

  
Assets acquired in the acquisition of the industrial lubricants business in May 2015 included $10.3 million of customer 

relationships and $0.2 million of non-compete agreements, which are being amortized over fifteen and five years, respectively. 
Additionally, in connection with the acquisition, the Company recorded $11.4 million of goodwill (non-deductible for tax). Assets 
acquired in the acquisition of the UPC subsidiaries in May 2013 included $12.8 million of product qualifications and $1.9 million of 
non-compete agreements, which are being amortized over fifteen and seven years, respectively. Intangible assets subject to 
amortization are amortized over their estimated useful lives which are between five and fifteen years. Total amortization expense 
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related to intangible assets was approximately $2.0 million, $1.7 million and $1.8 million for the fiscal years ended July 31, 2016, 
2015 and 2014, respectively. 

The following table presents carrying value of goodwill by operating segment as of July 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014 (in 
thousands): 
  
  

    
Other 

Chemicals     
Electronic 
Chemicals     Total   

Balance as of July 31, 2014     3,779       8,816       12,595   
Industrial lubricants business acquisition     11,352       —       11,352   
Foreign currency translation adjustment     —       (877 )     (877 ) 
Sale of creosote business     (662 )     —       (662 ) 
Balance as of July 31, 2015     14,469       7,939       22,408   
Purchase price adjustment     35       —       35   
Foreign currency translation adjustment     —       (215 )     (215 ) 
Balance as of July 31, 2016   $ 14,504     $ 7,724     $ 22,228   

 
 
7. LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS 

Working Capital 

On October 9, 2014, the Company refinanced its then existing revolving loan facility and entered into a new credit facility as 
reported on the Form 8-K filed on October 10, 2014 (the “Second Restated Credit Facility”). At July 31, 2016 the Company had 
$35.8 million outstanding under the Second Restated Credit Facility of $150.0 million. The maximum borrowing capacity under that 
revolving loan facility was $111.5 million, after giving effect to a reduction of $2.7 million for unused letters of credit.  

Long Term Obligations 

The Company’s long-term debt and current maturities as of July 31, 2016 and 2015 consisted of the following (in thousands): 
  

    
July 31, 

2016     
July 31, 

2015   
Senior secured debt:                 
   Revolving loan facility, maturing on October 9, 2019, 
      variable interest rates based on LIBOR plus 1.0% 
      at July 31, 2016   $ 35,800     $ 53,000   

 
The Second Restated Credit Facility was refinanced with Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, Bank of America, N.A., 

HSBC Bank USA, National Association, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. The initial advance under the Second Restated Credit 
Facility was used to repay in full the $20.0 million outstanding indebtedness under the Company’s note purchase agreement with The 
Prudential Insurance Company of America and Pruco Life Insurance Company, and the Company refinanced $38.0 million then 
outstanding under its existing revolving loan facility.  

The Second Restated Credit Facility provides for a revolving loan up to $150.0 million, including an accordion feature that 
allows for an additional revolving loan increase of up to an additional $100.0 million with approval from the lenders. The maturity 
date for the Second Restated Credit Facility is October 9, 2019. 

The revolving loan under the Second Restated Credit Facility bears interest at varying rate of LIBOR plus a margin based on 
funded debt to EBITDA, as described in the table. 

 
Ratio of Funded Debt to EBITDA   Margin   
Equal to or greater than 3.0 to 1.0     1.875 % 
Equal to or greater than 2.75 to 1.0, but less than 3.0 to 1.0     1.625 % 
Equal to or greater than 2.50 to 1.0, but less than 2.75 to 1.0     1.500 % 
Equal to or greater than 2.25 to 1.0, but less than 2.50 to 1.0     1.375 % 
Equal to or greater than 2.00 to 1.0, but less than 2.25 to 1.0     1.250 % 
Equal to or greater than 1.50 to 1.0, but less than 2.00 to 1.0     1.125 % 
Less than 1.50 to 1.0     1.000 % 
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Advances under the revolving loan bore interest at 1.496% as of July 31, 2016. The Company also incurs an unused 

commitment fee on the unused amount of commitments under the Second Restated Credit Facility from 0.30% to 0.15%, based on the 
ratio of funded debt to EBITDA. 

Loans under the Second Restated Credit Facility are secured by the Company’s assets, including stock in subsidiaries, inventory, 
accounts receivable, equipment, intangible assets, and real property. The Second Restated Credit Facility has restrictive covenants, 
including requirements that the Company must maintain a fixed charge coverage ratio of 1.5 to 1.0, a ratio of funded debt to EBITDA 
(as adjusted for non-cash and unusual, non-recurring, and certain acquisition and integration costs) of 3.25 to 1.0 (with a step-up to 3.5 
to 1.0 during an acquisition period with lender consent) and a current ratio of at least 1.5 to 1.0. As of July 31, 2016, the Company was 
in compliance with all covenants of the Second Restated Credit Facility. 

Principal payments due under long-term debt agreements as of July 31, 2016 for the fiscal years ended July 31 are as follows (in 
thousands): 
  

    Total     2017     2018     2019     2020     2021     Thereafter   
Long-term debt   $ 35,800     $ —     $ —     $ —     $ 35,800     $ —     $ —   
 
 
8. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

Contractual Obligations — The Company has non-cancelable operating leases for its office and warehouse facilities and certain 
transportation equipment and purchase obligations. Our obligations to make future payments under certain contractual obligations as 
of July 31, 2016 are summarized in the following table (in thousands): 
  
    Total     2017     2018     2019     2020     2021     Thereafter   
Operating leases   $ 21,832     $ 3,013     $ 2,355     $ 2,198     $ 1,589     $ 1,341     $ 11,336   
Purchase obligations(1)     46,642       37,811       8,239       592       —       —       —   
Total   $ 68,474     $ 40,824     $ 10,594     $ 2,790     $ 1,589     $ 1,341     $ 11,336   
  

(1) Consists primarily of raw materials purchase contracts. These are typically not fixed price arrangements. The prices are based on 
the prevailing market prices. 

Rent expense relating to the operating leases was approximately $3.1 million, $3.4 million and $3.8 million in fiscal years 2016, 
2015 and 2014, respectively. 

Environmental — The Company’s operations are subject to extensive federal, state and local laws, regulations and ordinances 
in the United States and abroad relating to the generation, storage, handling, emission, transportation and discharge of certain 
materials, substances and waste into the environment, and various other health and safety matters. Governmental authorities have the 
power to enforce compliance with their regulations, and violators may be subject to fines, injunctions or both. The Company must 
devote substantial financial resources to ensure compliance, and it believes that it is in substantial compliance with all of the 
applicable laws and regulations. 

Certain licenses, permits and product registrations are required for the Company’s products and operations in the United States, 
Mexico and other countries in which it does business. The licenses, permits and product registrations are subject to revocation, 
modification and renewal by governmental authorities. In the United States in particular, producers and distributors of chemicals such 
as penta and creosote are subject to registration and notification requirements under federal law (including under the Federal 
Insecticide Fungicide and Rodenticide Act (“FIFRA”), and comparable state law) in order to sell those products in the United States. 
Compliance with these requirements has had, and in the future will continue to have, a material effect on our business, financial 
condition and results of operations. 

The Company incurred expenses in connection with FIFRA research and testing programs of approximately $430,000, 
$977,000, and $667,000, in fiscal years 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively. These costs are included in selling, general, and 
administrative expenses. 

Litigation and Other Contingencies — The Company is subject to contingencies, including litigation relating to environmental 
laws and regulations, commercial disputes and other matters. Certain of these contingencies are discussed below. The ultimate 
resolution of these contingencies is subject to significant uncertainty, and should the Company fail to prevail in any of them or should 
several of them be resolved against the Company in the same reporting period, these matters could, individually or in the aggregate, be 
material to the consolidated financial statements. The ultimate outcome of these matters, however, cannot be determined at this time, 
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nor can the amount of any potential loss be reasonably estimated, and as a result except where indicated no amounts have been 
recorded in the Company’s consolidated financial statements. 

The Company records legal costs associated with loss contingencies as expenses in the period in which they are incurred. 

The Company’s subsidiary in Italy is contesting two cases in the Provincial Tax Court in Milan, Italy. In the first case the 
Company disputes income tax assessments by the taxing authority for the three year period ended July 31, 2011. In the aggregate, the 
amount of the assessments, including interest and penalties, is €1.8 million. If all the adjustments are sustained, the additional liability 
for the years 2009 through 2011 would total approximately $2.0 million, including interest and penalties through July 31, 2016 (at an 
exchange rate of 1.11 $/€). The Company had a liability for an uncertain tax position for items in the amount of $98,000, $57,000 and 
$326,000 as of July 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively. The Provincial Tax Court issued a ruling in October 2014 agreeing with 
the Company’s positions in the income tax assessment case, but the government appealed that ruling. In October 2016, however, the 
court confirmed the initial ruling in favor of the Company. That decision is subject to further appeal by the government. In the second 
case, the Company’s subsidiary contests the assessment of additional registration tax. The taxing authority is asserting an increased 
valuation of assets purchased from Air Products and Chemicals, Inc. in December 2007 on which registration tax is payable. The 
amount of this assessment, including interest and penalties through July 31, 2016, is €816,000 (or approximately $906,000, at an 
exchange rate of 1.11 $/€). In June 2016, the court ruled in the Company’s favor, in part, by reducing the amount of the assessment to 
€297,000. In October 2016, the Company appealed that ruling to the extent that it supported a partial increased assessment. The 
Company expects that the taxing authority will appeal the portion of the court’s ruling that reduced the assessment. The Company 
intends to vigorously pursue its position before the court in both cases, but the ultimate outcome of this litigation is subject to 
uncertainty. 

The EPA has listed the Star Lake Canal Superfund Site near Beaumont, Texas on the National Priorities List. The Company’s 
subsidiary, KMG-Bernuth, was notified in October 2014 that the EPA considered it to have potential liability under the 
Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980, as amended, also known as “CERCLA” in 
connection with this site by virtue of its relationship with certain alleged successor companies, including Idacon, Inc. (f/k/a Sonford 
Chemical Company). The EPA has estimated that the remediation will cost approximately $22.0 million. The Company and 
approximately seven other parties entered into an interim agreement with the EPA in September 2016 to complete a remedial design 
phase of the remediation of the site. No assurance can be given that the EPA will not designate the Company’s subsidiary as a 
potentially responsible party. The Company established a liability of $1.3 million in the third quarter of fiscal year 2015 in connection 
with this matter, with such amount accrued at July 31, 2016 and 2015. 

The Company is subject to federal, state, local and foreign laws and regulations and potential liabilities relating to the protection 
of the environment and human health and safety including, among other things, the cleanup of contaminated sites, the treatment, 
storage and disposal of wastes, the emission of substances into the air or waterways, and various health and safety matters. The 
Company expects to incur substantial costs for ongoing compliance with such laws and regulations. The Company may also face 
governmental or third-party claims, or otherwise incur costs, relating to cleanup of, or for injuries resulting from, contamination at 
sites associated with past and present operations. The Company accrues for environmental liabilities when a determination can be 
made that they are probable and reasonably estimable. 
 
 
9. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS 

The Company has a defined contribution 401(k) plan in which all regular U.S. employees are eligible to participate. The 
Company makes matching contributions under this plan of up to 4% of a participant’s compensation up to the annual regulated 
maximum amounts. The first 3% of the employee contribution is matched at 100%. The next 2% of the employee contribution is 
matched at 50%. Company contributions to the plan totaled approximately $638,000, $573,000 and $608,000 in fiscal years 2016, 
2015, and 2014, respectively. 

The locations in the United Kingdom and Singapore make contributions to retirement plans that function as defined contribution 
retirement plans. The Company’s contributions to those plans were approximately $1.6 million, $1.3 million and $1.5 million in fiscal 
years 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively. 

The Company’s other long-term liabilities included approximately $1.4 million, $1.2 million and $1.1 million as of July 31, 
2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively, related to benefit obligations in connection with the France location included in the acquisition of 
the UPC business. This payable is an unfunded benefit obligation of the Company. 

The Company has an employee benefit arrangement for one of its former U.S. employees. As of July 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, 
the associated liability was approximately $363,000, $490,000 and $553,000, respectively. The amount payable is a general obligation 
of the Company. Benefit payments under this arrangement, which the Company began paying in April 2013, will be paid for 10 years. 
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10. EARNINGS PER SHARE 

Basic earnings per share have been computed by dividing net income by the weighted average shares outstanding. Diluted 
earnings per share have been computed by dividing net income by the weighted average shares outstanding plus potentially dilutive 
common shares. The following table presents information necessary to calculate basic and diluted earnings per share for periods 
indicated: 
  

    Year Ended   
    2016     2015     2014   
    (Amounts in thousands, except per share data)   
Net income/(loss) from continuing operations   $ 18,675     $ 12,138     $ (988 ) 
Weighted average shares outstanding                         

Weighted average shares outstanding — basic     11,719       11,673       11,615   
Dilutive effect of options/warrants and stock awards     207       106       —   
Weighted average shares outstanding — diluted     11,926       11,779       11,615   

Basic earnings/(loss) per share   $ 1.59     $ 1.04     $ (0.09 ) 
Diluted earnings/(loss) per share   $ 1.57     $ 1.03     $ (0.09 ) 

 
  

Outstanding stock-based awards are not included in the computation of diluted earnings per share under the treasury stock 
method, if including them would be anti-dilutive. There was an average of 11,281 shares, 136 shares and 21,033 shares for the fiscal 
years ended 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively, not included in the computation of diluted earnings per share because they were anti-
dilutive. Potentially dilutive shares are not included in the computation of diluted weighted average shares outstanding for the fiscal 
year ended July 31, 2014 due to a loss from continuing operations for the year. 
 
 
11. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION 

Stock-Based Incentive Plans 

The Company adopted a 2016 Long-Term Incentive Plan (“2016 LTI Plan”) in January 2016 and it was approved by the 
shareholders at the annual meeting in January 2016. The Company adopted a 2009 Long-Term Incentive Plan (“2009 LTI Plan”) in 
October 2009 and it was approved by the shareholders at the annual meeting in December 2009 (the 2016 LTI Plan and the 2009 LTI 
Plan are referred to collectively as the “LTI Plans”). 

The LTI Plans permit the granting of incentive stock options, non-qualified stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted 
stock, restricted stock units, performance awards, dividend equivalent rights, and other awards. They are administered by the Board of 
Directors or a committee appointed by the Board of Directors. The Board has designated the Compensation and Development 
Committee as the administrator of the LTI Plans. Subject to the terms of the LTI Plans, the committee has the sole discretion to select 
the persons eligible to receive awards, the type and amount of incentives to be awarded, and the terms and conditions of awards. The 
committee also has the authority to interpret the LTI Plans, and establish and amend regulations necessary or appropriate for their 
administration. Any employee of the Company or a subsidiary of the Company or a director of the Company whose judgment, 
initiative, and efforts contributed or may be expected to contribute to the successful performance of the Company is eligible to 
participate. The maximum number of shares of the Company’s common stock that may be delivered pursuant to awards granted is 
500,000 shares under the 2016 LTI Plan and 750,000 under the 2009 LTI Plan. No executive officer may receive in any calendar year 
stock options or stock appreciation rights, or awards that are subject to the attainment of performance goals, relating to more than 
200,000 shares of common stock under the 2016 LTI Plan or 250,000 shares of common stock under the 2009 LTI Plan. At 
July 31, 2016 there were approximately 120,323 shares available for future grants under the 2016 LTI Plan and 53,691 shares 
available for future grants under the 2009 LTI Plan. 

Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation 

The Company recognized stock-based compensation costs of approximately $4.8 million, $2.8 million and $2.2 million, 
respectively, for the fiscal years ended July 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, and the related tax benefits of $1.7 million, $887,000 and 
$825,000, respectively, for the fiscal years ended July 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014. Stock-based compensation costs are recorded as 
selling, general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of income. The Company accounts for stock-based 
compensation costs at fair value measured on the date of grant of the award using a Black-Scholes option valuation model for stock 
option awards. Grant date fair value for stock awards is measured using the Company’s closing stock price on the date of grant of the 
stock awards where the award is based on a specific number of shares. Stock-based compensation costs are recognized as an expense 
over the requisite service period, generally the vesting period of the award, using the straight-line method. 
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As of July 31, 2016, there was approximately $6.8 million of unrecognized compensation costs that are related to outstanding 
stock awards expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.2 years. 

In connection with the election of Christopher T. Fraser as the Company’s President and Chief Executive Officer on 
September 24, 2013, the Company granted Mr. Fraser (i) 50,000 shares of common stock and (ii) time-based restricted stock awards 
for 30,000 shares of common stock (vesting over five years). The Company also agreed to grant performance-based restricted stock 
awards for an aggregate of 70,000 shares of common stock in five equal installments beginning in fiscal year 2014. The Company 
recorded an expense of approximately $1.1 million in the first quarter of fiscal year 2014 for the grant date fair value of the 50,000 
shares of common stock. 

A summary of activity for stock-awards is presented below. 

Performance Shares 

The Company grants performance-based Series 1 and Series 2 awards for shares to certain executives and employees. Stock-
based compensation for the awards is recognized over the requisite service period beginning on the date of grant through the end of 
the measurement period based on the number of shares expected to vest under the awards at the end of the measurement period. The 
expected percent of vesting is determined using certain performance measures described below and is re-evaluated at the end of each 
reporting period through the end of the measurement period. 

At August 1, 2015, there were 244,790 non-vested performance share awards outstanding, which reflected the maximum 
number of shares under the awards, and 120,692 performance share awards vested during the fiscal year ended July 31, 2016. As of 
July 31, 2016, the non-vested performance-based stock awards consisted of awards granted to certain executives and employees in 
fiscal years 2016, 2015 and 2014 as summarized below, reflecting the target number of shares under the awards. 

 

Date of Grant   
Series 
Award   

Target 
Award 

(Shares)     
Grant Date 
Fair Value     

Measurement 
Period Ending   

Actual or 
Expected 

Percentage of 
Vesting (1)     

Shares 
Projected 
to Vest or 

Vested   
Fiscal Year 2016 Award                                         
     03/10/2016   Series 1     14,625     $ 21.89     10/31/2018                 
     01/29/2016   Series 1     57,163     $ 21.80     10/31/2018                 
    Forfeitures(2)     (5,350 )                             
    Total Series 1     66,438                   100 %     66,438   
                                          
     01/19/2016   Series 3     82,938     $ 20.89     07/31/2020     100 %     82,938   
     12/11/2015   Series 3     10,000     $ 19.03     07/31/2016     100 %     10,000   
     12/11/2015   Series 3     4,000     $ 19.03     07/31/2016     100 %     4,000   
                                          
Fiscal Year 2015 Award                                         
     03/26/2015   Series 1     21,173     $ 25.85     07/31/2017                 
     12/09/2014   Series 1     103,499     $ 17.81     07/31/2017                 
    Forfeitures(2)     (11,685 )                             
     Total   Total Series 1     112,987                   159 %     179,355   
Fiscal Year 2014 Award                                         
     02/25/2014   Series 1     127,315     $ 14.88     07/31/2016                 
    Forfeitures(2)     (17,596 )                             
    Total Series 1     109,719                   110 %     120,692   
  

(1) The percentage vesting for performance share awards is currently estimated at 100%, 159% and 110% of the target awards for 
the fiscal year 2016, 2015 and 2014 awards, respectively.  

(2) Forfeitures include Series 1 awards that were granted in fiscal years 2016, 2015 and 2014 to certain employees that were 
forfeited at the termination of their employment. 

Series 1: For the fiscal year 2016, 2015 and 2014 awards, vesting is subject to performance requirements composed of certain 
objectives including average annual return on invested capital and annual compound growth rate in the Company’s diluted earnings 
per share. These objectives are measured quarterly using the Company’s budget, actual results and long-term projections. For each of 
the Series 1 awards, the expected percentage of vesting is evaluated through July 31, 2016, and reflects the percentage of shares 
projected to vest for the respective awards at the end of their measurement periods. For the fiscal year 2016 and 2015 awards, shares 
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vested under the awards may increase to a maximum of 200% and 167%, respectively, of the target award on achievement of 
maximum performance objectives. 

Series 2: None outstanding. 

Series 3: The table includes certain performance-based awards that are granted to Christopher T. Fraser according to his 
employment agreement. In fiscal year 2016, Mr. Fraser was awarded (i) a performance-based Series 3 award for 10,000 shares of 
common stock (at maximum) having a performance requirement related to debt payments during the fiscal year, and (ii) a 
performance-based Series 3 award for 4,000 shares of common stock having certain organizational objectives as a performance 
requirement. In each case the awards are measured over a one year period beginning August 1 and ending July 31. These awards fully 
vested as of July 31, 2016. In fiscal year 2016 Mr. Fraser was also awarded a performance-based Series 3 award for 82,938 shares of 
common stock (at target) having performance requirements related to cumulative revenue and total stockholder return. The 
measurement period for the fiscal year 2016 award begins on November 1, 2015 and the award vests one-third (1/3) at July 31, 2018, 
2019 and 2020. The shares vested may increase to a maximum of 200% of the target award on achievement of maximum performance 
objectives. Awards to Mr. Fraser for fiscal year 2015 included (i) a performance-based Series 3 award for 10,000 shares of common 
stock (at maximum) having a performance requirement related to debt payments during the fiscal year, and (ii) a performance-based 
Series 3 award for 4,000 shares of common stock having certain organizational objectives as a performance requirement, and in each 
case such awards vest and are measured over a one year period beginning August 1 and ending July 31. The award for fiscal year 2015 
was fully vested and 14,000 shares were issued on October 1, 2015. 

The weighted-average grant-date fair value of performance share awards forfeited during the fiscal year 2016 was $17.91. The 
weighted-average grant-date fair value of performance share awards outstanding at August 1, 2015 and July 31, 2016 was $17.36 and 
$20.09, respectively. 

The total grant-date fair value of performance share awards vested during fiscal years 2016, 2015 and 2014 was approximately 
$2.1 million, $233,000, and $45,000, respectively. 
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Time-Based Shares 

A summary of activity for time-based stock awards for the fiscal year ended July 31, 2016 is presented below: 

 

    Shares     

Weighted-
Average 

Grant-Date 
Fair Value   

Non-vested on August 1, 2014     50,100     $ 19.19   
Granted(1)     68,774       20.00   
Vested(2)     (36,186 )     19.65   
Forfeited     —       —   
Non-vested on August 1, 2015     82,688       19.66   
Granted(3)     177,799       21.94   
Vested(4)     (39,557 )     21.04   
Forfeited(5)     (9,562 )     20.51   
Non-vested on July 31, 2016     211,368       21.28   

 
  

(1) Includes 19,386 shares awards granted to non-employee directors during fiscal year 2015. Includes 8,000 share awards granted 
to certain employees vesting over one or two years from the date of grant. Includes 41,388 share awards granted to certain 
employees and executives during fiscal year 2015 which are expected to vest on July 31, 2016. The Company recognizes 
compensation expense related to the awards over the respective service period. 

(2) Includes 19,386 share awards granted to non-employee directors for service during fiscal year 2015. The shares vest on the date 
of grant, and the Company recognizes compensation expense related to the awards over the respective service periods in 
accordance with GAAP. Includes 16,800 share awards granted to employees. 

(3) Includes 19,007 share awards granted to non-employee directors during fiscal year 2016. Includes 7,000 share awards granted to 
certain employees vesting over one or two years from the date of grant. Includes 71,792 share awards granted to certain 
employees and executives during fiscal year 2016 which are expected to vest on October 31, 2018. Also includes 80,000 share 
awards granted to Mr. Fraser which vest over a service period of five years beginning on August 1, 2015. The share awards are 
to vest one third (1/3) at the end of years three, four and five of the service period. The Company recognizes compensation 
expense related to the awards over the respective service period.  

(4) Includes 19,007 share awards granted to non-employee directors for service during fiscal year 2016. The share awards vest on 
the date of grant, and the Company recognizes compensation expense related to the awards over the respective service periods in 
accordance with GAAP. Includes 20,550 share awards granted to employees. The vested amounts includes 6,000 share awards 
granted to Mr. Fraser. 

(5)  Forfeitures includes awards that were granted in fiscal years 2016 and 2015 to certain employees that were forfeited at the 
termination of their employment. 

The total fair value of share awards vested during the fiscal years ended 2016, 2015 and 2014 was approximately $832,000, 
$944,000, and $1,822,000, respectively. 
 
 
12. SEGMENT INFORMATION 

The Company has two reportable segments—electronic chemicals and other chemicals. In conjunction with the acquisition of 
the industrial lubricants business, the Company’s management, including the chief executive officer, who is the chief operating 
decision maker, determined that the Company’s operations should be reported as the electronic chemicals and other chemicals 
business segments. Previously the Company had two reportable segments – electronic chemicals and wood treating chemicals. The 
electronic chemicals segment includes the ultra pure chemicals business acquired from OM Group on May 31, 2013 and the NFC 
acquisition on April 4, 2016, and represents the substantial majority of the Company’s on-going operations. During the second quarter 
ended January 31, 2015, the Company sold the creosote business which, along with the Company’s penta business, comprised the 
previous wood treating chemicals segment. The remaining piece of the wood treating chemicals segment was combined with the 
recently acquired industrial lubricants business and are presented as the other chemicals segment. Therefore, as of May 1, 2015 our 
other chemicals segment includes the Company’s penta business and the recently acquired industrial valve lubricants and sealants 
business.  



53 

The business segment management reporting and controlling systems are based on the same accounting policies as those 
described in the summary of significant accounting policies. See Note 1. 

 

    
Electronic 
Chemicals     

Other 
Chemicals     

Other 
Activities     Consolidated   

    (Amounts in thousands)   
2016                                 

Net Sales   $ 261,523     $ 36,455     $ —     $ 297,978   
Depreciation and amortization(1)     11,832       1,149       1,553       14,534   
Income from operations(2)     32,141       12,631       (17,201 )     27,571   
Goodwill and intangible assets, net     17,625       38,509       —       56,134   
Total assets     165,561       53,798       17,669       237,028   

2015                                 
Net Sales   $ 265,608     $ 54,820     $ 70     $ 320,498   
Depreciation and amortization(1)     12,257       626       648       13,531   
Income from operations(2)     21,787       8,735       (13,933 )     16,589   
Goodwill and intangible assets, net     19,778       39,190       —       58,968   
Total assets     169,355       58,878       14,126       242,359   

2014                                 
Net Sales   $ 253,754     $ 99,514     $ 138     $ 353,406   
Depreciation and amortization(1)     13,240       400       477       14,117   
Income from operations(2)     14,089       8,390       (18,528 )     3,951   
Goodwill and intangible assets, net     23,065       17,883       —       40,948   
Total assets     192,402       41,178       17,278       250,858   

  

(1) Segment depreciation excludes depreciation for restructuring and realignment. 
(2) Segment income from operations includes allocated corporate overhead expenses, but excludes restructuring and realignment 

charges, which are included in the Other Activities column. 
  
 For fiscal years 2016, 2015 and 2014 sales to one customer represented approximately 26%, 23% and 15%, respectively, of 
the Company’s net sales. In fiscal year 2014, sales to another customer represented approximately 13% of the Company’s net sales, 
No other customers accounted for 10% or more of the Company’s net sales. 
 
Geographic Data: 
 

 The Company operated 15 facilities that are dedicated to manufacturing, blending and distributing products in seven 
countries. The United States is home to four of those sites, representing 59% of the Company’s long-lived assets. Sales are attributed 
to geographic areas based on customer location; long-lived assets are attributed to geographic areas based on asset location. 
  

    2016     2015     2014   
    (Amounts in thousands)   
Net sales:                         

United States   $ 162,427     $ 183,384     $ 212,903   
International     135,551       137,114       140,503   

Net sales   $ 297,978     $ 320,498     $ 353,406   
Property, plant and equipment, net:                         

United States   $ 47,118     $ 45,257           
International     32,621       35,332           

Property, plant and equipment, net   $ 79,739     $ 80,589           
 
 
 
13. RESTRUCTURING AND REALIGNMENT EVENTS 

As part of the Company’s global restructuring of its electronic chemicals operations, the Fremont, California manufacturing site 
acquired in the acquisition from OM Group was closed in fiscal year 2014, and production has been shifted primarily to the 
Company’s Hollister, California and Pueblo, Colorado facilities. The Company closed one of its facilities in Milan, Italy in December 
2015, and shifted some production to facilities in France and the United Kingdom. Accelerated depreciation with respect to the closed 
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facilities has been completed. Restructuring charges, exclusive of accelerated depreciation, have been $1.8 million in the aggregate in 
fiscal years 2016 and 2015. 

At July 31, 2016, the accrued liability associated with restructuring and other related charges consisted of the following: 
  

    Employee Costs     

Decommissioning 
and 

Environmental     Other     Total   
Accrued liability at July 31, 2013   $ —     $ —     $ —     $ —   
Charges     2,631       1,260       34       3,925   
Payments     (698 )     (438 )     —       (1,136 ) 
Adjustment     (45 )     (12 )     (7 )     (64 ) 
Accrued liability at July 31, 2014   $ 1,888     $ 810     $ 27     $ 2,725   
Charges     —       90       11       101   
Payments     (882 )     (654 )     (12 )     (1,548 ) 
Adjustment     (290 )     (77 )     (9 )     (376 ) 
Accrued liability at July 31, 2015   $ 716     $ 169     $ 17     $ 902   
Payments     (4 )     (135 )     (17 )     (156 ) 
Adjustment     9       2       —       11   
Accrued liability at July 31, 2016   $ 721     $ 36     $ —     $ 757   

  
Total accelerated depreciation for the fiscal years ended July 31, 2016 and 2015 was $295,000 and $900,000, respectively. 

In October 2014, the Company announced a realignment of its hydrofluoric acid business and subsequently exited the facility 
operated for the Company by Chemtrade Logistics (“Chemtrade”) in Bay Point, California. Under the manufacturing agreement, the 
Company is obligated to pay or reimburse Chemtrade for certain costs associated with the cessation of operations at Bay Point, 
including certain employee costs and the decommissioning, dismantling and removal of the Company’s manufacturing equipment at 
the site. Operations ceased in the third quarter of fiscal year 2015. The Company incurred total charges of $4.8 million for accelerated 
depreciation during fiscal year 2015. Additionally, the Company incurred certain employee costs of $0.8 million. All assets have been 
fully depreciated as of July 31, 2015. 

The changes to the asset retirement obligation associated with realignment are as follows: 
 
Asset retirement obligation at July 31, 2014   $ 3,870   
Charges     671   
Payments     (3,721 ) 
Adjustment     (9 ) 
Asset retirement obligation at July 31, 2015   $ 811   
Charges     129   
Payments     (772 ) 
Asset retirement obligation at July 31, 2016   $ 168   

 

In fiscal year 2014, the Company established an asset retirement obligation of $3.7 million for decontamination, 
decommissioning and dismantling at Bay Point, and recorded $1.0 million depreciation expense against that obligation, and the 
Company recognized $0.8 million of additional accelerated depreciation. In addition, the Company recognized an impairment charge 
of $2.7 million in fiscal year 2014 with respect to certain manufacturing equipment at Bay Point that is unrelated to hydrofluoric acid 
production. 
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14. SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED) 
  

    
First 

Quarter     
Second 
Quarter     

Third 
Quarter     

Fourth 
Quarter   

    (Amounts in thousands, except per share data)   
Year Ended July 31, 2016                                 

Net sales   $ 76,650     $ 70,859     $ 75,168     $ 75,301   
Gross profit     29,260       28,233       29,158       28,857   
Operating income     7,320       6,137       7,029       7,085   
Income before income taxes     7,151       6,034       8,522       6,523   
Net income     4,591       3,979       6,362       3,743   
Earnings per share:                                 

Net income per share                                 
- basic   $ 0.39     $ 0.34     $ 0.54     $ 0.32   
- diluted     0.39       0.33       0.53       0.31   

Year Ended July 31, 2015                                 
Net sales   $ 90,779     $ 79,762     $ 73,964     $ 75,993   
Gross profit     27,591       28,555       26,815       26,516   
Operating income     2,819       3,167       4,761       5,842   
Income before income taxes     1,988       8,534       2,827       5,535   
Net income     1,185       5,490       2,135       3,328   
Earnings per share:                                 

Income per share                                 
- basic   $ 0.10     $ 0.47     $ 0.18     $ 0.29   
- diluted     0.10       0.47       0.18       0.28   

  
Earnings per share amounts are computed independently for each quarter presented. Therefore, the sum of the quarterly earnings 

per share may not equal annual earnings per share. 
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL 
DISCLOSURE 

None. 

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES 

Disclosure Controls and Procedures 

The term “disclosure controls and procedures” is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934. This term refers to the controls and procedures of a company that are designed to ensure that information required to be 
disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported 
within the time periods specified by the Securities and Exchange Commission. Our management, including our Chief Executive 
Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the 
period covered by this annual report. Based upon that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have 
concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of the end of the period covered by this annual report. 

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting for the 

Company, as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act. Because of inherent limitations, internal 
control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluations of effectiveness to 
future periods is subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate in the future period because of changes in conditions, in the 
degree of compliance with the policies, or because procedures may deteriorate.  

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our principal executive and principal financial 
officers, we conducted an assessment as of July 31, 2016 of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on 
the framework in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission (2013 Framework) (the “COSO Framework”). Based on this assessment, management concluded that its internal control 
over financial reporting was effective as of July 31, 2016.  

Management’s assertion about the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of July 31, 2016, has been 
audited by KPMG LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which appears herein.  

Remediation of Material Weaknesses in Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

As reported in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended July 31, 2015, management identified material weaknesses 
in internal controls over financial reporting as of July 31, 2015. The identified material weaknesses resulted from our personnel not 
having sufficient knowledge, experience and skills to handle both the demands of financial reporting in the fourth quarter of fiscal 
year 2015 and the added burden of the implementation and stabilization of our new ERP system in that quarter, and also resulted from 
failures in the control environment and monitoring activities over our operations in France. During the fiscal year ended July 31, 2016, 
the Company took the following remedial actions to address the material weaknesses in internal controls over financial reporting: 

x The Company hired new team members with significant prior experience with systems like the Company’s new ERP system 
to provide additional capacity, analytical and functional capabilities, and cross-training. 

x The Company implemented business process improvements in its order-to-cash, procurement and inventory processes that 
enabled a faster month-end close and fewer journal entries for quarter-end. 

x A complete review of the appropriateness of all personnel performing all transactions in the Company’s ERP system was 
performed in each quarter of fiscal year 2016, and all information system access was determined to have been appropriate. 
New protocols for ERP access were implemented. 

x Sarbanes-Oxley training sessions were completed for all relevant personnel. 

x Management added Sarbanes-Oxley compliance requirements as part of its annual performance review guidelines. 

x Management and internal audit established a Sarbanes-Oxley steering committee to oversee the remediation process. 

x Management obtained positive confirmation from control owners that controls were performed, and continues to monitor the 
performance of controls on an on-going basis. 
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x Management streamlined and simplified its consolidation process enabling greater transparency and reviews. 

Regarding the Company’s operations in France, additional actions included the following: 

x The Company hired a new Sarbanes-Oxley Coordinator in June 2015 who was fully involved in the financial close process 
by the end of the first fiscal quarter. 

x The Company established ongoing, regular and frequent communication and education sessions between the Company’s 
corporate controller and its French accounting leadership team (including multiple on-site visits) relating to the control 
deficiencies, reporting and disclosure requirements. 

x The Company reemphasized the importance of disclosures and reporting with key members of its senior leadership and 
European leadership teams. 

x Management received positive confirmation that key controls related to disclosure were performed, and continues to 
monitor the performance of disclosure controls on an on-going basis. 

The Company has concluded that the above actions were effective as of July 31, 2016 in remediating the previously identified 
material weaknesses. 

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting  

Except for the items identified above, there were no changes to our internal control over financial reporting during the fiscal 
quarter ended July 31, 2016 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over 
financial reporting.  
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PART III 

Pursuant to instruction G(3) to Form 10-K, the information required by Part III is incorporated by reference from our definitive 
proxy statement relating to our annual meeting of shareholders, which will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission 
within 120 days of the end of fiscal year 2016. 
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PART IV 
 
 
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES, AND REPORTS ON FORM 10-K 
(a) The financial statements and financial statement schedules filed as part of this report in Item 8 are listed in the Index to 

Financial Statements contained in that item. 

(b) The following documents are filed as exhibits. Documents marked with an asterisk (*) are management contracts or 
compensatory plans, and portions of documents marked with a dagger (†) have been granted confidential treatment. 

  
  3.1 

   
Restated and Amended Articles of Incorporation filed as Exhibit 3(i) to the Company’s Form 10-QSB12G filed 
December 6, 1996, and incorporated herein by reference. 

  

  3.2 
   

Amended and Restated Bylaws, amended and restated as of October 23, 2014, filed as Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s 
report on Form 10-K filed October 28, 2014, and incorporated herein by reference. 

  
  3.3 

   

Articles of Amendment to Restated and Amended Articles of Incorporation, filed December 11, 1997 filed as Exhibit 3 to 
the Company’s second quarter 1998 report on Form 10-QSB filed December 12, 1997, and incorporated herein by 
reference. 

  
  4.1 

   
Form of Common Stock Certificate filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Form 10-QSB12G filed December 6, 1996, and 
incorporated herein by reference. 

  

10.1* 
   

Employment Agreement with Roger C. Jackson dated August 1, 2002 filed as Exhibit 10.31 to the Company’s 2003 
report on Form 10-K filed October 23, 2003, and incorporated herein by reference. 

  
10.2* 

   
Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan dated effective August 1, 2001 filed as Exhibit 10.27 to the Company’s 2001 
report on Form 10-K filed October 24, 2001, and incorporated herein by reference. 

  
10.3* 

   
Performance-Based Restricted Stock Agreement, Series 1 dated September 2, 2005 filed as Exhibit 10.28 to the 
Company’s report on Form 8-K filed September 7, 2005, and incorporated herein by reference. 

  
10.4* 

   
Performance-Based Restricted Stock Agreement, Series 2 dated September 2, 2005 filed as Exhibit 10.29 to the 
Company’s report on Form 8-K filed September 7, 2005, and incorporated herein by reference. 

  
10.5† 

   
Agreement with Acme Chemical Marketing, LLC dated February 14, 2008 filed as Exhibit 10.41, to the Company’s 
report on Form 10-Q filed March 17, 2008, and incorporated herein by reference. 

  
10.6* 

   
Executive Severance Plan dated October 10, 2008, by and between the Company and its Eligible Employees filed as 
Exhibit 10.42, to the Company’s report on Form 8-K filed October 13, 2008, and incorporated herein by reference. 

  
10.7† 

   
Purchase Agreement dated December 31, 2007 with Intel Corporation filed as Exhibit 10.45 to the Company’s report on 
Form 8-K filed May 13, 2009, and incorporated herein by reference. 

  
10.8* 

   
2009 Long Term Incentive Plan of the Company, filed as Exhibit 10.46 to the Company’s report on Form 10-K filed 
October 14, 2009, and incorporated herein by reference. 

  

10.9* 
   

Employment Agreement with Mr. Fraser dated September 24, 2013 filed as Exhibit 10.31 to the Company’s report on 
Form 8-K filed on September 26, 2013, and incorporated herein by reference. 

  
10.10 

   
Form of the Indemnification Agreement filed as Exhibit 10.32 to the Company’s report on Form 8-K filed on March 3, 
2014, and incorporated herein by reference. 

  
10.11 

   

Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement with Wells Fargo Bank, National Association Bank of America, N.A., 
HSBC Bank USA, National Association, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. dated October 9, 2014 initially filed as Exhibit 
10.33 to the Company’s report on Form 8-K filed October 10, 2014, and incorporated herein by reference. 

  

10.12 

   

Asset Purchase Agreement dated as of January 16, 2015 between the Company, KMG-Bernuth, Inc. and Koppers Inc., 
filed as Exhibit 10.34 to the Company’s report on Form 8-K filed on January 20, 2015, and incorporated herein by 
reference. 

  
10.13 

   

Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of April 1, 2015, among KMG Chemicals, Inc., Valves Incorporated of Texas, 
KMG Victoria I, LLC, KMG Victoria II, LLC and the Principal Shareholders and the Shareholders’ Representative 
named therein, filed as Exhibit 10.35 to the Company’s report on Form 8-K filed on April 2, 2015, and incorporated 
herein by reference. 

  

10.14* 
   

2016 Long Term Incentive Plan of the Company, filed as Appendix A to the Company’s Definitive Proxy Statement on 
Schedule 14A filed December 1, 2016, and incorporated herein by reference. 

  
21.1    Subsidiaries of the Company. 
   

23.1    Consent of KPMG LLP. 
   
31.1    Certificate under Section 302 the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 of the Chief Executive Officer. 
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31.2    Certificate under Section 302 the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 of the Chief Financial Officer. 
   

32.1    Certificate under Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 of the Chief Executive Officer. 
  

32.2    Certificate under Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 of the Chief Financial Officer. 
   
101.INS    XBRL Instance Document 
  
101.SCH    XBRL Schema Document 
  
101.CAL    XBRL Calculation Linkbase Document 
  
101.DEF    XBRL Definition Linkbase Document 
  
101.LAB    XBRL Label Linkbase Document 
  
101.PRE    XBRL Presentation Linkbase Document 
 
(c) Schedule II-Valuation and Qualifying Accounts and Reserves. All other schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or 

the required information is contained in the applicable financial statements of notes thereto. 
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KMG Chemicals, Inc. 
Schedule II — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts 

Fiscal years ended July 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014 
(in thousands) 

  

Description   

Balance at 
beginning 
of period     

Charged to 
costs 

and expenses     
Additions/ 
Deductions     

Balance at 
end 

of period   
Year ended July 31, 2016:                                 

Allowance for doubtful accounts   $ 144     $ 7     $ 59     $ 210   
Inventory obsolescence     481       173       —       654   
Valuation allowance on deferred tax assets     2,016       (360 )     1,239       2,895   

Year ended July 31, 2015:                                 
Allowance for doubtful accounts   $ 272     $ —     $ (128 )   $ 144   
Inventory obsolescence     290       941       (750 )     481   
Valuation allowance on deferred tax assets     1,725       291       —       2,016   

Year ended July 31, 2014:                                 
Allowance for doubtful accounts   $ 224     $ 108     $ (60 )   $ 272   
Inventory obsolescence     180       221       (111 )     290   
Valuation allowance on deferred tax assets     —       1,725       —       1,725   
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SIGNATURES 

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this 
report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. 
  
KMG CHEMICALS, INC. 
       
By:    /s/ Christopher T. Fraser    Date: October 14, 2016 
 

   
Christopher T. Fraser 
President, Chief Executive Officer and Director 

 
 

  

  
Pursuant to the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the 

registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated. 
  
By:    /s/ Marcelino Rodriguez        Date: October 14, 2016 
 

   
Marcelino Rodriguez, Vice President and Chief 
Financial Officer    

 
   
 

    

By:    /s/ M. Shawn Ham        Date: October 14, 2016 
 

   
M. Shawn Ham, Controller and 
Chief Accounting Officer    

 
   
 

    

By:    /s/ James F. Gentilcore        Date: October 14, 2016 
    James F. Gentilcore, Director         
    

By:    /s/ Gerald G. Ermentrout        Date: October 14, 2016 
    Gerald G. Ermentrout, Director         
    

By:    /s/ George W. Gilman        Date: October 14, 2016 
    George W. Gilman, Director         
    

By:    /s/ Robert Harrer        Date: October 14, 2016 
  Robert Harrer, Director     
       

By:  /s/ John C. Hunter, III    Date: October 14, 2016 
    John C. Hunter, III, Director         
    

By:    /s/ Fred C. Leonard        Date: October 14, 2016 
    Fred C. Leonard III, Director         
    

By:    /s/ Karen A. Twitchell        Date: October 14, 2016 
    Karen A. Twitchell, Director         
  
 



SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR  Communications concerning the transfer of shares, lost certificates or changes of address for 
registered shares should be directed to the transfer agent:

 Broadridge Corporate Issuer Solutions Phone: 877.830.4936
 P.O. Box 1342 Email: shareholder@broadridge.com
 Brentwood, NY 11717 Website: https://investor.broadridge.com

 
DIRECT STOCK PURCHASE PLAN  KMG is pleased to offer a Direct Stock Purchase Plan (DSPP) for registered shareholders. 

Participants may invest in KMG common stock at current market prices without service fees or 
brokerage commissions, and automatically reinvest KMG dividends in additional common shares. 
Participants may also use the plan to make gifts of KMG common stock, deposit existing stock 
certificates for safekeeping and sell KMG shares. Broadridge is the plan administrator. The DSPP 
prospectus and enrollment forms are available from KMG’s website, www.kmgchemicals.com, 
or from Broadridge’s website, https://investor.broadridge.com. This is not an offer to sell or a 
solicitation to buy securities, which are only offered by prospectus.

SHAREHOLDER SERVICES  KMG maintains an internal financial mailing list and can email you when news releases are 
distributed. To sign up, visit the website at www.kmgchemicals.com and fill out the Email Updates 
form. You can also request that certain financial information be mailed to you on a one-time basis 
by contacting the corporate office.

CODE OF BUSINESS CONDUCT  KMG’s Code of Business Conduct can be viewed and downloaded from the KMG website at  
www.kmgchemicals.com. Navigate to the Investors section and click the “Corporate  
Governance” link. 

FORM 10-K  Additional copies of the KMG Chemicals, Inc. Form 10-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission, can be downloaded from the Company website and are also available upon written 
request to the corporate office.

INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS KPMG

INVESTOR INQUIRIES Inquiries about KMG are welcome by email, phone or letter. Please direct them to:

 Investor Relations
 Eric Glover, Investor Relations Manager
 KMG
 300 Throckmorton Street
 Fort Worth, TX 76102

 Phone: 817.761.6006
 Email: eglover@kmgchemicals.com
 Website: www.kmgchemicals.com

  The information in this document includes certain forward-looking statements that are based upon assumptions that 
in the future may prove not to have been accurate and are subject to significant risks and uncertainties, including 
statements as to the future performance of the company. Although the company believes that the expectations 
reflected in its forward-looking statements are reasonable, it can give no assurance that such expectations or any 
of its forward-looking statements will prove to be correct. Factors that could cause results to differ include, but are 
not limited to, successful performance of internal plans, product development acceptance, the impact of competitive 
services and pricing and general economic risks and uncertainties.
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